
INTEGRATED
REPORT

2022



Content

1. About This Report

2. Who We are                                                                                                                                             3

Mission                                                                                                                                                         3                                                                                                        

Vision                                                                                                                                                            3

Values                                                                                                                                                           3

3. Key Financial Reports

Board of Directors Report                                                                                                              5

Auditors Report                                                                                                                                    6

4. Financial Statements for the year ended 2022                                                                  13

5. Corporate Governance Report                                                                                                       99

6. Sustainability Report                                                                                                                            135



Vision
To offer ‘Simply Better’ banking solutions for all our customers across the 

UAE.

Mission
We aim to be a leading customer-focused company in the UAE, offering 

convenient access to innovative and competitive inancial products across 
multiple channels to individuals and businesses. 

Our Values

Integrity - We know trust is fundamental and to be trusted we must remain 
competent and honest.

Transparency - We disclose all product Terms and Conditions with the use 
of simple language on our website and at various points of sale. 

Collaboration - We build diverse teams to generate better ideas and act as 
responsible partners with all our stakeholders and regulators to serve the 

wider interests of society.
Accountability - We recognize that ultimately we are accountable to 

our shareholders and we focus unrelentingly on maximizing long term 
shareholder and asset value.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ras Al 
Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 
 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 

Our opinion  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (the “Company”) as at 31 December 2022, and 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
What we have audited 

The Company’s financial statements comprise: 
• the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022; 

• the statement of profit or loss for the year then ended; 

• the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; 

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.  

 

Basis for opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. 
  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
 
Independence 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”) and the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Arab Emirates. We have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. 

 

Our audit approach  
 
Overview  

 

Key Audit Matters • Valuation of insurance contract liabilities 

• Impairment losses on Insurance and other receivables 

http://www.pwc.com/me
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ras Al 
Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (continued) 

 

Our audit approach (continued) 
 
Overview (continued) 
 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement 
in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective 
judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the 
risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether 
there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an 
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Company operates. 

 

Key audit matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities 

 
As disclosed in note 9 to these financial 
statements, the Company’s insurance 
contract liabilities amounted to AED 373 
million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: AED 
416 million). 
 

Note 9 to these financial statements 
describes the elements that make up the 
insurance contract liabilities balance. We 
comment on the most judgemental elements 
below: 
 
Outstanding claims  
Outstanding claims balance is a material 
within the financial statements, is highly 
judgmental and can be complex to calculate 
in certain instances. The outstanding claims 
are a best estimate of all claims incurred but 
not settled at the reporting date. 

 

 
As part of our audit procedures, we: 
 

• understood, evaluated and tested the key 
controls relating to the review process of 
quarterly and annual reserves by 
management, the Company’s internal actuarial 
team and the external appointed actuary; and 

• understood, evaluated and tested key controls 
relating to the reserve setting process of the 
Company. 

 
For outstanding claims, we: 
 

• reconciled, for each line of business, the 
outstanding claims reserves as per the 
technical listing to the underlying accounting 
records; 

• checked on a sample basis the outstanding 
claims reserves against supporting 
documentation, such as loss adjusters’ 
reports; 

• for outstanding claims reserves with no 
movement since the prior year, we understand 
from management the reasons for no 
movement; and 

• compared on a sample basis, the outstanding 
claims reserves with the subsequent 
payments, if settled or subsequent reserve 
amounts, if unsettled; 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ras Al 
Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (continued) 

 

Key audit matters (continued) 
 

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Valuation of insurance contract liabilities (continued) 

 
Claims incurred but not reported: 
This reserve represents the liability for claims 
incurred but not reported at the end of the 
reporting period, which is determined through 
an external independent actuarial valuation, 
considering the Company’s historical loss 
experience. Significant assumptions are 
applied in the valuation of claims that have 
been incurred at the reporting date but have 
not yet been reported to the Company. In 
addition, lines of business where there is a 
greater length of time between the initial 
claim event and the settlement tend to 
display greater variability between initial 
estimates and final settlement amounts. 
 

Mathematical reserves: 
This reserve represents the liability for the 
life insurance policies which is determined 
through an external independent actuarial 
valuation, considering future policy benefits 
at the end of each reporting period. It 
involves complex and subjective judgements 
and uncertainty about future events for 
which changes in the assumptions can 
result in a significant impact to the estimate.  
 
The valuation of the other elements of the 
Company’s insurance contract liabilities was 
determined through an external independent 
actuarial valuation. We consider the 
valuation of insurance contract liabilities a 
key audit matter because of the complexity 
involved in the estimation process and the 
significant judgements that management 
makes in determining the reasonableness 
and adequacy of the insurance contract 
liabilities. 
 

For incurred but not reported claims reserve and 
mathematical reserve, we: 
 

• re-performed reconciliations between the data 
used in the actuarial reserving calculations 
and the underlying accounting records of the 
Company; 

• evaluated the competence, objectivity and 
independence of the Company’s appointed 
external actuaries as well as our internal 
actuarial experts; 

• using our internal actuarial experts, we applied 
our industry knowledge and experience and 
we compared the methodology, models and 
assumptions used against recognised 
actuarial practices. In particular we: 
o checked whether the data and the 

checks applied to it are reasonable and 
sufficient to determine the Company’s 
actuarial reserves; 

o assessed the reasonableness of the 
assumptions and methods used to 
reflect the underlying insurance liabilities 
calculations of the Company; 

o assessed the effect on the current year’s 
reserve estimates based on the review 
performed by the Company on the 
incurred but not reported claims reserve 
claims at prior year end in the light of 
subsequent development / settlement of 
these claims;  

o recalculated incurred but not reported 
claims reserves on a sample basis for 
the major lines of business; and 

o understood and assessed the 
reasonableness of the mathematical 
reserve and performed recalculation on 
a sample basis for the valuation of 
mathematical reserve. 
 

• checked the appropriateness of the 
disclosures made in relation to the valuation 
of insurance contract liabilities included in 
these financial statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ras Al 
Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (continued) 
 

Key audit matters (continued) 
 

Key audit matter  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment losses on insurance and other receivables 

 
As disclosed in note 10 to these financial 
statements, the Company’s insurance and 
other receivables as at 31 December 2022 
amounted to AED 145 million (2021: AED 
208 million) and the related provision for 
impairment amounted to AED 29 million 
(2021: AED 33 million). 
 

The insurance and reinsurance receivables 
are measured under IFRS 4 by applying the 
principles of IFRS 9. 
 
The Company makes complex and 
subjective judgements over both the timing 
of recognition of impairment of insurance 
and other receivables and the estimation of 
the amount of such impairment using the 
expected credit loss model. The expected 
credit losses on insurance receivables are 
estimated using a provision matrix by 
reference to past default experience of the 
debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s 
current financial position, adjusted for 
factors that are specific to the debtors, 
general economic conditions of the industry 
in which the debtors operate and an 
assessment of both the current as well as 
the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date. 
 
We consider the calculation of impairment 
losses on insurance and other receivables as 
a key audit matter because of the 
significance of the insurance and other 
receivables balance (representing 16% of the 
total assets as at 31 December 2022), the 
related estimation uncertainty to the financial 
statements and the significance of the 
judgements used in applying the 
requirements of IFRS 9. 
 

 
As part of our audit procedures, we: 

 

• tested the completeness and accuracy of the 
input data used in the impairment model 
calculations; 
 

• assessed and reviewed the methodology 
applied by the Company in calculating the 
impairment provision to assess its consistency 
with the requirements of IFRS 9 and tested the 
appropriateness and reasonableness of key 
assumptions and judgments used; 

 

• for balances determined to be individually 
impaired, we tested a sample to assess the 
reasonableness of management’s estimated 
provisions; and 

 

• checked the appropriateness of the disclosures 
made in relation to the impairment of insurance 
and other receivables included in these 
financial statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ras Al 
Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (continued) 
 

Other information  
 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
report (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon).  

 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  

 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 

Responsibilities of the Directors and those charged with governance for the financial 
statements 
 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and their preparation in compliance with 
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, the UAE Federal Law No. 
(6) of 2007, as amended, and the related Financial Regulations for Insurance Companies issued by 
the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates (“CBUAE”) (formerly the United Arab Emirates 
Insurance Authority (“IA”)), and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of  financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  

 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  

 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ras Al 
Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (continued) 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued) 
 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.   

 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Ras Al 
Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (continued) 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, we report that: 

i. we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

ii. the financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021;

iii. the Company has maintained proper books of account;

iv. the financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of
account of the Company;

v. as disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, the Company has purchased or invested in
shares during the year ended 31 December 2022;

vi. note 25 to the financial statements discloses material related party transactions, and the
terms under which they were conducted;

vii. based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Company has contravened during the year
ended 31 December 2022 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law
No. 32 of 2021, or of its Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its
financial position as at 31 December 2022; and

viii. note 23 to the financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Further as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (6) of 2007, as amended, and the related Financial 
Regulations for Insurance Companies issued by the CBUAE (formerly, the IA), we report that we have 
obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
20 February 2023 

Jacques Fakhoury 
Registered Auditor Number 379 
Place: Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates 
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 
 

Statement of profit or loss 
 

  For the year ended 31 December  

 Notes 2022  2021 

  AED  AED 

     

Insurance premium revenue earned 20 460,636,247  459,352,353 

Insurance premium ceded to reinsurers 20 (196,996,507)  (184,165,757) 

Net insurance premium revenue earned 20 263,639,740  275,186,596 

     

Gross claims settled  (296,246,775)  (277,268,762) 

Reinsurance share of claims settled  110,937,237  116,727,718 

Net claims settled  (185,309,538)  (160,541,044) 

Change in gross outstanding claims, unallocated 

loss adjustment expenses and claims incurred 

but not reported ("IBNR") provisions  11,579,754  (56,376,823) 

Change in reinsurance share of outstanding 

claims and claims incurred but not reported 

("IBNR") provisions  (12,563,544)  50,545,780 

Change in gross mathematical reserve  3,480,996  (696,603) 

Change in reinsurance share of mathematical 

reserve  (1,555,304)  278,534 

Net claims incurred  (184,367,636)  (166,790,156) 

     

Gross commission earned 18 18,499,483  18,360,602 

Commission incurred 19 (79,737,929)  (76,336,545) 

Net commission incurred  (61,238,446)  (57,975,943) 

Gross underwriting income  18,033,658  50,420,497 

General and administrative expenses  26 (59,269,134)  (55,277,964) 

Allowance for impairment   7, 10, 12 (7,207,951)  (1,572,917) 

Other underwriting income 28 3,652,493  1,557,500 

Net underwriting loss   (44,790,934)  (4,872,884) 

     

Interest income 21 9,620,919  8,473,195 

Investment income 22 65,944  6,866,137 

Other income  129,592  5,407 

(Loss) / profit for the year  (34,974,479)  10,471,855 

     

Basic and diluted (loss) / earnings per share 24 (0.29)  0.09 
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 
 

Statement of comprehensive income 
 

  For the year ended 31 December 

 Notes 2022  2021 

  AED  AED 

     

(Loss) / profit for the year  (34,974,479)  10,471,855 

     

Other comprehensive loss     

     

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:     

Net change in fair value of debt investments 

designated at FVTOCI 7 (12,800,991)  (691,120) 

Reclassification of gain on disposal of debt 

investments designated at FVTOCI to the 

statement of profit or loss 22 -     (1,102,114) 

     

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss:     

Realised gain on disposal of equity investments 

designated at FVTOCI  -     376,394 

Net change in fair value of equity investments 

designated at FVTOCI 7 (244,755)  233,693 

Total other comprehensive loss for the year  (13,045,746)  (1,183,147) 

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year  (48,020,225)  9,288,708 
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 
 

Statement of changes in equity 

 

Share  

capital  

Statutory 

reserve   

Voluntary 

reserve 

 

Reinsurance 

reserve 

 Cumulative 

change in 

fair value of 

FVTOCl 

investments  

(Accumulated 

losses) / 

retained 

earnings  Total 

 AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

              

Balance at 1 January 2021  121,275,000   48,708,862   20,000,000   949,485       650,387   11,492,284  203,076,018 

              

Profit for the year   -      -      -      -     -  10,471,855  10,471,855 

Other comprehensive loss for the 

year 

 

 -     

 

 -     

 

 -     

 

 -    

 

(1,183,147)  -  (1,183,147) 

Total comprehensive (loss) / 

income for the year  -      -      -      -    

 

(1,183,147)  10,471,855  9,288,708 

Reclassification of realised gain 

on disposal of equity 

investments designated at 

FVTOCI -  -  -  - 

 

(376,394)  376,394  - 

Transfer to statutory reserve -  1,047,186  -  -  -  (1,047,186)  - 

Transfer to reinsurance reserve 

(Note 14.3)  -  -  -  922,585 

 

-  (922,585)  - 

Dividends paid (Note 35)  -  -  -  -  -  (9,702,000)  (9,702,000) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 121,275,000  49,756,048  20,000,000  1,872,070  (909,154)  10,668,762  202,662,726 

              

Loss for the year -  -  -  -  -  (34,974,479)  (34,974,479) 

Other comprehensive loss for the 

year -  -  -  - 

 

(13,045,746)  -  (13,045,746) 

Total comprehensive loss for 

the year -  -  -  - 

 

(13,045,746)  (34,974,479)  (48,020,225) 

Transfer to reinsurance reserve 

(Note 14.3)  -  -  -  930,545 

 

-  (930,545)  - 

Dividends paid (Note 35) -  -  -  -  -  (9,702,000)  (9,702,000) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 121,275,000  49,756,048  20,000,000  2,802,615  (13,954,900)  (34,938,262)  144,940,501 
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Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 

  

Statement of cash flows  
   

  For the year ended 31 December 

 Notes 2022  2021 

  AED  AED 

Cash flows from operating activities     
(Loss) / profit for the year  (34,974,479)  10,471,855 

     

Adjustments for:     

Depreciation of property and equipment 5, 26 862,677  1,114,034 

Depreciation of investment properties  -     42,651 

Amortisation of intangible assets 6, 26 1,516,388  1,483,278 

Allowance for impairment  7, 10,12 7,207,951  1,572,917 

Provision of employees' end of service indemnity 15 1,713,835  1,136,399 

Realised gain on disposal of financial asset at 

FVTOCI debt investments 22 -     (1,102,114) 

Realised gain on disposal of investment 

properties 22 -     (4,805,380) 

Realised gain on disposal of property and 

equipment  (120,830)  (1,499) 

Write off of property and equipment 5 37,626  62 

Net income from investment properties  -     (183,929) 

Amortisation of premium on FVTOCI debt 

investments 7 229,465  272,413 

Interest income 21 (9,620,919)  (8,473,195) 

Dividend income 22 (65,944)  (774,714) 

Interest cost on bank borrowings  693,970  23,648 

Operating cash flows before changes in 

working capital, payments of directors’ 

remuneration, employees’ end of service 

indemnity and interest on bank borrowings  (32,520,260)  776,426 

     

Changes in working capital     

Decrease / (increase) in reinsurance contract 

assets  25,006,329  (51,175,539) 

Decrease in deferred acquisition cost  5,066,194  859,715 

(Decrease) / increase in insurance contract 

liabilities  (42,712,383)  66,869,400 

Decrease / (increase) in insurance and other 

receivables  46,244,104  (7,345,635) 

Decrease / (increase) Increase in current accounts 

in Lebanese bank  397  (3,988,161) 

Decrease in deferred commission income  (5,637,901)  (3,677,464) 

Increase in insurance and other payables  21,460,733  24,989,898 

Net cash generated from operations  16,907,213  27,308,640 

     

Interest paid on bank borrowings  (717,618)  - 

Director's remuneration paid  (812,569)  (1,000,000) 

Employees' end of service indemnity paid 15 (1,572,333)  (1,085,427) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  13,804,693  25,223,213 

     

     

     



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 

  

Statement of cash flows (continued) 

The notes on pages 15 to 91 form an integral part of these financial statements. 14 

     

  For the year ended 31 December 

 Notes 2022  2021 

  AED  AED 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of property and equipment 5 (234,813)  (559,862) 

Purchase of intangible assets 6 (538,388)  (244,589) 

Proceeds from disposal of property and 

equipment  128,202  7,422 

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at 

FVTOCI  7 -  53,419,867 

Purchase of financial assets at FVTOCI  7 (21,358,130)  (100,764,148) 

Proceeds from maturity of FVTOCI investments 7 12,253,130  7,346,000 

Proceeds from disposal of investment properties  -     20,058,815 

Interest received  13,181,981  7,543,966 

Dividend income received  65,944  774,714 

Rental income received from investment 

properties  -     183,929 

Maturities of fixed deposits with banks with 

original maturities greater than three months  268,917,352  223,317,494 

Placements of fixed deposits with banks with 

original maturities greater than three months  (341,225,159)  (231,951,077) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (68,809,881)  (20,867,469) 

     

Cash flows from financing activities     

Dividends paid 35 (9,702,000)  (9,702,000) 

Increase in bank borrowings 17 50,000,000  33,056,997 

Settlement of bank borrowings 17 (33,056,997)  - 

Net cash generated from financing activities  7,241,003  23,354,997 

     

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash 

equivalents  (47,764,185)  27,710,741 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

year 11 57,392,932  29,682,191 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

year 11 9,628,747  57,392,932 

 

Principal non-cash transactions: 

 

There were no non-cash transactions during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 

2021 except the following: 

 

• writeback of commission payable to brokers amounting to AED 2.9 million during the year 

ended 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil); and 

• reclassification of exposure to a Lebanese bank from ‘Bank balances and fixed 

deposits’ to ‘Insurance and other receivables’ during the year ended 31 December 2022 

(note 10). 
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1 General information 
 

Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (the “Company”) is a public joint-stock 

company, established and incorporated in the Emirate of Ras Al Khaimah by Emiri decree No. 

20/76 dated 26 October 1976. The Company is subject to the regulations of the UAE Federal Law 

No. 6 of 2007 on Establishment of Insurance Authority and Organization of its Operations, as 

amended, and is registered in the Insurance Companies Register of the Central Bank of the UAE 

(formerly, the UAE Insurance Authority), under registration number 7. The address of the 

Company’s registered head office is P. O. Box 506, Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates. 

 

The Company is a subsidiary of National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah P.S.C. (the “Parent company”) 

which is incorporated in the Emirate of Ras Al Khaimah, United Arab Emirates.  

 

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange, United Arab 

Emirates. 

 

The principal activity of the Company is to undertake all classes of insurance business including 

life assurance, saving and accumulation of funds. The Company operates through its head office 

in Ras Al Khaimah and branch offices in Ras Al Khaimah, Dubai, and Abu Dhabi. 

 

Federal Decree Law No. (24) of 2020 which amends certain provisions of the UAE Federal Law 

No. 6 of 2007 on Establishment of Insurance Authority and Organization of its Operations was 

issued on 27 September 2020 and the amendments came into effect on 2 January 2021. Effective 

2 January 2021, the Insurance Sector became under the supervision and authority of the Central 

Bank of the UAE (“CBUAE”). 

 

On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 ("Companies Law") was 

issued and came into effect on 2 January 2022 which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 

2015. The Company had 12 months from 2 January 2022 to comply with the provisions of the 

UAE Federal Decree Law No 32 of 2021. As of 31 December 2022, the Company is in compliance 

with the Companies Law. 

 

Implementation of UAE Corporate Tax Law and application of IAS 12 – Income Taxes 

 

On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance (“MoF”) published Federal Decree-Law No. 

47 of 2022 on Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (the “Corporate Tax Law”). This means 

businesses will be subject to UAE Corporate Tax (“Corporate Tax”) from the beginning of their 

first financial year that starts on or after 1 June 2023. The UAE’s Corporate Tax regime will levy 

a standard rate of 9% for taxable profits above a specified threshold and a 0% rate below that 

amount to support small businesses and start-ups. Expectations are that the threshold will be AED 

375,000 but the amount is yet to be confirmed by a Cabinet Decision. However, there are a number 

of significant decisions that are yet to be finalised by way of a Cabinet Decision, including the 

threshold mentioned above, that are critical for entities to determine their tax status and the amount 

of tax due. Therefore, pending such important decisions by the Cabinet, the Company has 

determined that the Law was not practically operational as at 31 December 2022, and so not 

enacted or substantively enacted from the perspective of IAS 12 – Income Taxes. The Company 

shall continue to monitor the timing of the issuance of these critical Cabinet Decisions to 

determine its tax status and the applicability of IAS 12 – Income Taxes. The Company is currently 

in the process of assessing the possible impact on its financial statements, both from current and 

deferred tax perspective, once the Law becomes substantively enacted. 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) 
 

2.1 New and revised IFRSs and interpretations applied on the financial statements  

 

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2022, have been adopted in these financial statements. The application of these 

revised IFRSs, except where stated, have not had any material impact on the amounts reported for 

the current and prior years. 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Amendment to IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – COVID-19 related rent 

concessions Extension of the practical expedient 

 

As a result of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, rent concessions 

have been granted to lessees. In May 2020, the IASB published an 

amendment to IFRS 16 that provided an optional practical expedient for 

lessees from assessing whether a rent concession related to COVID-19 is 

a lease modification. On 31 March 2021, the IASB published an 

additional amendment to extend the date of the practical expedient from 

30 June 2021 to 30 June 2022. Lessees can elect to account for such rent 

concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease 

modifications. In many cases, this will result in accounting for the 

concession as variable lease payments in the period(s) in which the event 

or condition that triggers the reduced payment occurs. 
 

1 April 2021 

Amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37 and some annual 

improvements on IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16 

 

Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ update a reference in 

IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting without 

changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. 

 

Amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’ prohibit a 

company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment 

amounts received from selling items produced while the company is 

preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognise 

such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. 

 

Amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent 

assets’ specify which costs a company includes when assessing whether 

a contract will be loss-making. 

 

Annual improvements make minor amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time 

Adoption of IFRS’, IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, IAS 41, 

‘Agriculture’ and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16, 

‘Leases’.  
 

1 January 2022 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.1 New and revised IFRSs and interpretations applied on the financial statements 

(continued) 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

IFRIC Agenda decision – Lessor forgiveness of lease payments 

(IFRS 9 and IFRS 16) 

 

In October 2022, the IASB finalised the agenda decision approved by the 

IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) on ‘Lessor Forgiveness of 

Lease Payments (IFRS 9 and IFRS 16)’. The agenda decision addresses 

the accounting from the perspective of the lessor, and in particular: 

 

• how the expected credit loss (‘ECL’) model in IFRS 9 should be 

applied to the operating lease receivable when the lessor expects 

to forgive payments due from the lessee under the lease contract 

before the rent concession is granted. 

• whether to apply the derecognition requirements in IFRS 9 or the 

lease modification requirements in IFRS 16 when accounting for 

the rent concession. 
 

October 2022 

2.2 New and revised IFRSs issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 
 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements on 

classification of liabilities 

 

The narrow-scope amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial 

Statements’ clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-

current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting 

period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or 

events after the reporting date (e.g.the receipt of a waiver or a breach of 

covenant). The amendments also clarify what IAS 1 means when it refers 

to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. The amendments could affect the 

classification of liabilities, particularly for entities that previously 

considered management’s intentions to determine classification and for 

some liabilities that can be converted into equity. They must be applied 

retrospectively in accordance with the normal requirements in IAS 8 

‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’. 

 

In June 2021, the IASB issued an Exposure Draft proposing to defer the 

effective date of the amendments to 1 January 2024. 
 

Deferred until 

accounting periods 

starting not earlier 

than 1 January 

2024 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 

 
2.2 New and revised IFRSs issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

(continued) 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies – Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 

Practice Statement 2 

 

The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their material 

rather than their significant accounting policies. The amendments define 

what is ‘material accounting policy information’ and explain how to 

identify when accounting policy information is material. They further 

clarify that immaterial accounting policy information does not need to be 

disclosed. If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting 

information. 

 

To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS Practice 

Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements to provide guidance on how 

to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. 
 

1 January 2023 

Definition of Accounting Estimates – Amendments to IAS 8 

 

The amendment to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors clarifies how companies should distinguish changes 

in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The 

distinction is important, because changes in accounting estimates are 

applied prospectively to future transactions and other future events, 

whereas changes in accounting policies are generally applied 

retrospectively to past transactions and other past events as well as the 

current period. 
 

1 January 2023 

Narrow scope amendments to IAS 1, Practice statement 2 

 

The IASB amended IAS 1 to require entities to disclose their material 

rather than their significant accounting policies. The amendments define 

what is ‘material accounting policy information’ and explain how to 

identify when accounting policy information is material. They further 

clarify that immaterial accounting policy information does not need to be 

disclosed. If it is disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting 

information. To support this amendment, the IASB also amended IFRS 

Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements to provide 

guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy 

disclosures. 
 

1 January 2023 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 

 
2.2 New and revised IFRSs issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

(continued) 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single 

transaction – Amendments to IAS 12 

 

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes require companies to 

recognise deferred tax on transactions that, on initial recognition, give 

rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible temporary differences. 

They will typically apply to transactions such as leases of lessees and 

decommissioning obligations and will require the recognition of 

additional deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

 

The amendment should be applied to transactions that occur on or after 

the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In addition, 

entities should recognise deferred tax assets (to the extent that it is 

probable that they can be utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at the 

beginning of the earliest comparative period for all deductible and 

taxable temporary differences associated with: 

 

• right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and 

• decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities, and the 

corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the 

related assets. 

 

The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is recognised in 

retained earnings, or another component of equity, as appropriate. IAS 

12 did not previously address how to account for the tax effects of on-

balance sheet leases and similar transactions and various approaches 

were considered acceptable. Some entities may have already accounted 

for such transactions consistent with the new requirements. These entities 

will not be affected by the amendments. 
 

1 January 2023 

Amendment to IFRS 16 – Leases on sale and leaseback 

 

These amendments include requirements for sale and leaseback 

transactions in IFRS 16 to explain how an entity accounts for a sale and 

leaseback after the date of the transaction. Sale and leaseback 

transactions where some or all the lease payments are variable lease 

payments that do not depend on an index or rate are most likely to be 

impacted. 
 

1 January 2024 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.2 New and revised IFRSs issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

(continued) 
 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Amendment to IAS 1 – Non-current liabilities with covenants  

 

These amendments clarify how conditions with which an entity must 

comply within twelve months after the reporting period affect the 

classification of a liability. 
 

1 January 2024 

IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts 

 

On 18 May 2017, the IASB finished its long-standing project to develop 

an accounting standard on insurance contracts and published IFRS 17 

“Insurance Contracts”. IFRS 17 replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits 

a wide variety of practices. IFRS 17 will fundamentally change the 

accounting by all entities that issue insurance contracts and investment 

contracts with discretionary participation features.  

 

IFRS 17 requires a current measurement model, where estimates are 

remeasured in each reporting period. The measurement is based on the 

building blocks of discounted, probability-weighted cash flows, a risk 

adjustment and a contractual service margin (“CSM”) representing the 

unearned profit of the contract. A simplified premium allocation 

approach is permitted for the liability for the remaining coverage if it 

provides a measurement that is not materially different from the general 

model or if the coverage period is one year or less. However, claims 

incurred will need to be measured based on the building blocks of 

discounted, risk-adjusted, probability weighted cash flows. 
 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts 

 

The IASB issued the amendments to IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’, on 

25 June 2020, together with an amendment to IFRS 4, so that eligible 

insurers can still apply IFRS 9 alongside IFRS 17. This concluded the 

IASB’s targeted amendments to IFRS 17 which aimed to ease 

implementation of the standard by reducing implementation costs and 

making it easier for entities to explain, to investors and others, the results 

from applying IFRS 17. 
 

1 January 2023 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.2 New and revised IFRSs issued but not yet effective and not early adopted 

(continued) 
 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for 

annual periods 

beginning on or 

after 

Amendments to IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts (continued) 

 

On 28 October 2021, the IASB (‘Board’) redeliberated the Exposure 

Draft proposing a narrow-scope amendment relating to the presentation 

of comparative information on initial application of both IFRS 9, 

‘Financial Instruments’, and IFRS 17, ‘Insurance Contracts’, considering 

the feedback from the comment letters received. 

The amendment would permit an entity to apply an optional 

classification overlay in the comparative period(s) presented on initial 

application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9. The overlay would allow such assets 

to be classified, on an instrument-by-instrument basis, in the comparative 

period(s) in a way that aligns with how the entity expects those assets to 

be classified on initial application of IFRS 9. Following feedback on the 

proposals, the Board extended the scope of the overlay to include all 

financial assets, including those held in respect of activities not 

connected to contracts within the scope of IFRS 17. The overlay could 

also be applied by entities that already apply IFRS 9. The Board issued 

the amendment to IFRS 17 on 9 December 2021.  

 

IFRS 17 should be applied to annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2023, with earlier application permitted, and the 

amendments should be applied at the same time. 

  

Refer note 2.3 for details on status of implementation. 
 

1 January 2023 

 

The Company is currently assessing the impact of these standards, interpretations and 

amendments on the future financial statements and intends to adopt these, where applicable, 

when they become effective. There are no other relevant applicable new standards and 

amendments to published standards or IFRIC interpretations that have been issued but are not 

effective for the first time for the Company’s financial year beginning on 1 January 2022 that 

would be expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company except 

for the adoption of IFRS 17.  
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.3 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts 
 

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’ is applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on 1 

January 2023 and the Company expects to first apply IFRS 17 on that date. IFRS 17 establishes 

principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts, 

reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with direct participation features (“DPF”) 

(hereafter referred to as “contracts”). The key objectives of IFRS 17 are comparable recognition 

and measurement of contracts in the scope of the standard, the recognition of insurance service 

results based on the services provided to the policyholder and provision of disclosures that will 

enable the users of the financial statements to assess the impact of these contracts on the 

financial position, financial results and cash flows of the entity. The standard distinguishes 

between the sources of profit and quality of earnings between insurance service results and 

insurance finance income and expense (reflecting the time value of money and financial risk). 
 

IFRS 17 also allows entities that have applied IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ to annual 

reporting period before the initial application of IFRS 17, to redesignate their financial assets 

associated with insurance. There will be no redesignation of financial assets which were 

previously recognised when IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ was applied. 
 

2.3.1  Structure and status of the Company’s implementation project 
 

The Company has engaged an independent consultant (the “Consultant”) to assist with the 

implementation of the IFRS 17 standard and is planning to use an IFRS 17 managed services 

solution to be able to produce IFRS 17 results and disclosures. The Consultant and our staff 

members have been actively involved in driving the project. Regular trainings have been 

provided to the Board of Directors on IFRS 17. Accounting policy papers, actuarial 

methodologies and disclosure requirements have been defined and are being implemented 

throughout the Company. The IFRS 17 project team remains up to date, and closely monitors, 

all technical developments from the IASB and industry to evaluate the effects of such 

developments. Where applicable, the policy and methodology papers are updated to reflect any 

changes in requirements.   
 

The Company has made significant progress in the implementation of IFRS 17. However, the 

following still need to be finalised to complete the transition to IFRS 17. As such the impact 

assessment reported in these financial statements may change once the implementation is 

completed. 

• Finalise the confidence level for explicit risk adjustment that will assist the Company in 

completing the dry runs and the transition impact assessment for both 31 December 

2021 and 2022 balances; 

• Complete impact assessment as of 31 December 2022; 

• Produce and request business sign-off, as well as external audit sign-off of transition 

balances;  

• Finalise the layout and disclosure of the IFRS 17 compliant annual financial statements; 

• Finalise the management reporting and key performance measures; 

• Continue engaging with various stakeholders and business through various training 

initiatives.; and  

• Finalise and implement future financial and data governance processes and 

accountabilities. 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.3 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

As the Company will be impacted by the application of IFRS 17. Below is an assessment of 

the expected impact: 

 

2.3.2  Measurement model 

 

Measurement will not be carried out at the level of individual contracts, but on the basis of 

groups of contracts. To allocate individual insurance contracts to groups of contracts, an entity 

first needs to define portfolios which include contracts with similar risks and that are managed 

together. These portfolios are to be subdivided into groups of contracts on the basis of 

profitability and quarterly cohorts. IFRS 17 consists of 3 measurement models: 

 

• The general measurement model, also known as the building block approach, which 

consists of the fulfillment cash flows and the contractual service margin. 

• The variable fee approach is a mandatory modification of the general measurement 

model regarding the treatment of the contractual service margin in order to 

accommodate direct participating contracts. 

• The premium allocation approach is a simplified approach for the measurement of the 

liability for remaining coverage which an entity may choose to use when the premium 

allocation approach provides a measurement of the liability for remaining coverage 

which is not materially different from that under the general measurement model or if 

the coverage period of each contract in the group of insurance contracts is one year or 

less. Under the premium allocation approach, the liability for remaining coverage is 

measured as the amount of premiums received net of acquisition cash flows paid, less 

the net amount of premiums and acquisition cash flows that have been recognized in 

profit or loss over the expired portion of the coverage period based on the passage of 

time. 

 

The measurement of the liability for incurred claims is identical under all three measurement 

models, apart from the determination of locked-in interest rates used for discounting. An 

explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is estimated separately from the other estimates 

for the liability for incurred claims. This risk adjustment represents compensation required for 

bearing uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash flows that arises from non-

financial risk. The risk adjustment forms part of the fulfilment cash flows for a group of 

insurance contracts. 

 

The Company plans to apply the premium allocation approach (“PAA”) to all the insurance 

contracts. Groups of contracts with coverage period of one year or less automatically qualify 

for PAA. For groups of contracts with coverage period greater than one year, we assessed that 

there is no material difference in the measurement of the liability for remaining coverage 

between PAA and the general model, therefore, these qualify for PAA. 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.3 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

2.3.2 Measurement model (continued) 

 

Insurance revenue and insurance service expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss based on the concept of services provided during the period. The standard requires losses 

to be recognised immediately on contracts that are expected to be onerous. For insurance 

contracts measured under the PAA, it is assumed that contracts are not onerous at initial 

recognition, unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise. The Company’s focus is to 

grow a profitable and sustainable business and does not anticipate the recognition of onerous 

contracts except where certain facts and circumstances have been identified. 
 

2.3.3 Accounting policy choices 

 

The following table sets out the accounting policy choices that the Company plans to adopt: 

 

Particulars  IFRS 17 options Adopted approach 

Insurance 

acquisition 

cash flows 

Where the coverage period of 

each contract in the group at 

initial recognition is no more than 

one year, IFRS 17 allows an 

accounting policy choice of 

either expensing the insurance 

acquisition cash flows when 

incurred or amortizing them over 

the contract’s coverage period.    
   

The Company capitalises all insurance 

acquisition cash flows.  The Company 

allocates the acquisition cash flows to 

groups of insurance contracts issued or 

expected to be issued using a 

systematic and rational basis. 

Liability for 

Remaining 

Coverage 

(“LRC”) 

adjusted for 

financial risk 

and time value 

of money 

Where there is no significant 

financing component in relation 

to the LRC, or where the time 

between providing each part of 

the services and the related 

premium due date is no more than 

a year, an entity is not required to 

make an adjustment for accretion 

of interest on the LRC.     

  

The Company will not adjust the LRC 

for insurance contracts issued and the 

asset for remaining coverage (ARC) 

for reinsurance contracts held for the 

effect of the time value of money if 

insurance premiums are expected to be 

collected within the coverage period of 

contracts, which is one year or less. 

For all other contracts, the Company 

makes an allowance for accretion of 

interest on the LRC as the time 

between providing each part of the 

services and the expected premium 

collection is more than one year. 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.3 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

2.3.3 Accounting policy choices (continued) 

 

Particulars  IFRS 17 options Adopted approach 

Liability for 

Incurred 

Claims 

(“LIC”) 

adjusted for 

time value of 

money 
 

Where claims are expected to be 

paid within a year of the date that 

the claim is incurred, it is not 

required to adjust these amounts 

for the time value of money. 

The LIC will be adjusted for the time 

value of money. 

Insurance 

finance income 

and expenses 

IFRS 17 provides an accounting 

policy choice to recognise the 

impact of changes in discount 

rates and other financial variables 

in profit or loss or in OCI. The 

accounting policy choice (the PL 

or OCI option) is applied on a 

portfolio basis. 
 

The Company will include changes in 

discount rates and other financial 

variables within OCI. 

Disaggregation 

of risk 

adjustment 

An insurer is not required to 

include the entire change in the 

risk adjustment for non-financial 

risk in the insurance service 

result. Instead, it can choose to 

split the amount between the 

insurance service result and 

insurance finance income or 

expenses. 
 

The Company will disaggregate the 

change in risk adjustment for non-

financial risk between a financial and 

non-financial portion which will be 

presented in insurance finance income 

or expenses and in insurance service 

result respectively. 

Interim 

reporting 

The Company shall make an 

accounting policy choice as to 

whether to change the treatment 

of accounting estimates made in 

previous interim financial 

statements when applying IFRS 

17 in subsequent interim 

financial statements and in the 

annual reporting period. 

The Company will account for any 

changes in accounting estimates on a 

year-to-date basis (i.e., the revised 

estimates will be calculated from the 

beginning of the year and adjusted in 

reported interim financials so that 

overall impact of changes in estimates 

equals with annual impact of the 

change). 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.3 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

2.3.4 Areas of significant judgements 

 

The following are key judgements and estimates which the Company expects to apply as a 

result of IFRS 17. 

 

Discount rates 

 

The bottom-up approach will be used to derive the discount rate. Under this approach, the 

discount rate is determined as the risk-free yield, adjusted for differences in liquidity 

characteristics between the financial assets used to derive the risk-free yield and the relevant 

liability cash flows (known as an ‘illiquidity premium’). The risk-free rate was derived using 

swap rates available in the market denominated in the same currency as the product being 

measured. When swap rates are not available, highly liquid sovereign bonds with a AAA credit 

rating were used. Management uses judgment to assess liquidity characteristics of the liability 

cash flows. 

 

Risk adjustment 

 

The Company will use Mack method or bootstrapping to determine its risk adjustment for non-

financial risk. The bootstrap effectively allows the Company to measure the uncertainty about 

the amount and timing of the cash flows that arise from non-financial risk since bootstrapping 

the triangles aims to illustrate the variability of the paid claims.  

 

When considering non-financial risks, this typically represents underwriting, expense and to 

some degree operational risk where the operational risk is specific to the insurance contract 

issued. For simplification purposes the risk adjustment only considers the underwriting risks 

as this is inherent in the bootstrapping calculation. 

 

Management is currently assessing the appropriate confidence level. 

 

Unit of account  

 

The Company did not identify any contracts or arrangements that require combination and 

separation which differ from recognition under IFRS 4 and IFRS 17. 

 

The Company has a Profitability Assessment Committee that meets at regular intervals to 

determine the profitability groupings of each portfolio of contracts. The committee acts as a 

forum to collect input from the pricing and underwriting functions and assess the relevant facts 

and circumstances which indicate that groups of contracts are onerous at initial recognition. 

 

Below are some of the relevant facts and circumstances that the Company considers: 

• Claims and expense ratios; 

• Allowance for the risk adjustment; and 

• Allowance for directly attributable expenses (which includes a portion of overheads) as 

required by IFRS 17. 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 

 

2.3 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts (continued) 
 

2.3.4 Areas of significant judgements (continued) 
 

Unit of account (continued) 
 

For non-onerous groups of contracts, the Company assesses the likelihood of changes in the 

applicable facts and circumstances in the subsequent periods in determining whether contracts 

have a significant possibility of becoming onerous. The Company combines the application of 

quantitative thresholds on the above factors with the qualitative assessment of its lines of 

business to determine the resilience of groups of contracts. Based on management's assessment, 

all non-onerous groups of contracts will be classified as having a significant possibility of 

becoming onerous subsequently. 
 

2.3.5 Transition 
 

The Company will apply IFRS 17 on the date of initial application, 1 January 2023, using the 

full retrospective approach.  
 

The Company has determined that reasonable and supportable information is available for all 

contracts in force at the transition date. In addition, as the contracts are eligible for the PAA, 

the Company has concluded that only current and prospective information will be required to 

reflect circumstances at the transition date, which made the full retrospective application 

practicable and, hence, the only available option for insurance contracts issued by the 

Company.       
 

Accordingly, the Company will:  
 

• identify, recognise and measure each group of insurance contracts and any assets for 

insurance acquisition cash flows as if IFRS 17 had always applied;  

• derecognise any existing balances that would not exist if IFRS 17 had always applied; 

and 

• recognise any resulting net difference in equity. 
 

Impact of transition of IFRS 17 
 

The Company is still assessing the estimated impact that the initial application of IFRS 17 will 

have on its financial statements. Based on assessments undertaken to date, opening equity is 

expected to move predominantly due to the following: 
 

• impact of risk adjustments  

• accounting for onerous contracts in the business 

• impact of discounting 

• non-performance risk on reinsurance recoverable balances 
 

The assessment of the impacts on the Company’s financial statements is in progress. Although 

the work is well advanced as of the date of the publication of these financial statements, it is 

not yet practicable to reliably quantify the transition impact. 
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2 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) (continued) 
 

2.3 IFRS 17 – Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

2.3.5 Transition (continued) 

 

Impact on presentation and disclosures on transition to IFRS 17 

 

In the statement of financial position, deferred acquisition cost and insurance related 

receivables will no longer be presented separately but as part of the insurance liabilities. This 

change in presentation will lead to a reduction in total assets, offset by a reduction in total 

liabilities.  

 

The amounts presented in the statement of financial performance (statement of comprehensive 

income) need to be disaggregated into an insurance service result, consisting of the insurance 

revenue and the insurance service expenses, and insurance finance income and expenses. 

Income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held need to be presented separately from the 

expenses or income from insurance contracts issued. 

 

IFRS 17 has introduced additional disclosures which would need to be provided. The Company 

will be required to provide disaggregated qualitative and quantitative information about: 

 

• Amounts recognised in its financial statements from insurance contracts issued and 

reinsurance contracts held within the scope of IFRS 17;  

• Significant judgements, and changes in those judgements, when applying the standard; 

and 

• The nature and extent of the risks from contracts within the scope of the standard. 

 

3  Significant accounting policies 
 

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are 

summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to each of the years 

presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 

3.1 Statement of compliance 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations 

Committee (“IFRS IC”) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and the applicable 

requirements of the United Arab Emirates (UAE) Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 

("Companies Law"), United Arab Emirates (UAE) Federal Law No. 6 of 2007 on 

Establishment of Insurance Authority and Organization of its Operations, as amended, and the 

Financial Regulations for Insurance Companies issued by the Central Bank of the UAE 

(“CBUAE”) (formerly the United Arab Emirates Insurance Authority (“IA”)). The financial 

statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(“IASB”). 
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3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.2 Basis of preparation  

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the 

revaluation of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and 

the provision for employees’ end of service indemnity measured in accordance with the 

projected unit method under IAS 19 – Employee Benefits. 

 

The Company’s statement of financial position is not presented using a current / non-current 

classification. However, the following balances would generally be classified as current: cash 

and cash equivalents, insurance and other receivables, insurance and other payables and bank 

borrowings. The following balances would generally be classified as non-current: property and 

equipment, intangible assets and statutory deposit. The following balances are of mixed nature 

(including both current and non-current portions): reinsurance contract assets, deferred 

acquisition cost, bank balances and fixed deposits, financial assets at FVTOCI, insurance 

contract liabilities, deferred commission income and provision for employees’ end of service 

benefits. 

 

The financial statements are presented in Arab Emirate Dirham (“AED”). 

 

The principal accounting policies are set out below. 

 

3.3 Insurance contracts  

 

3.3.1 Definition, recognition and measurement 

 

The Company issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. Insurance 

contracts are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk. Such contracts may also 

transfer financial risk. As a general guideline, the Company defines as significant insurance 

risk the probability of having to pay benefits on the occurrence of an insured event that are at 

least 10% more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. Investment 

contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with no significant insurance risk. 

 

Insurance contracts issued by the Company are classified into two main categories, depending on 

the duration of risk being: short-term insurance contracts and long-term insurance contracts. 

 

3.3.2 Short-term insurance contracts 

 

These contracts are medical, motor, property, casualty, marine, engineering and short-duration life 

insurance contracts. 

 

Medical insurance contracts protect the Company’s customers against the risk of incurring 

medical expenses. Medical selection is part of the Company’s underwriting procedures, 

whereby contributions are charged to reflect the health condition and family medical history of 

the applicants. Pricing is based on assumptions, such as persistency, which consider past 

experience and current trends.  Contracts including specific risks and guarantees are tested for 

profitability according to predefined procedures before approval.  
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3  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

3.3.2 Short-term insurance contracts (continued) 

 

Marine insurance covers the loss or damage of ships, cargo, terminals, and any transport by 

which the property is transferred, acquired, or held between the points of origin and the final 

destination. 

 

Engineering Insurance is an insurance policy that covers a wide range of engineering related 

risks. It is a comprehensive insurance that provides complete protection against risks associated 

with erection, resting, and working of any machinery, plant or equipment. 

 

Motor insurance comprises Comprehensive Insurance and Third-Party Insurance. 

Comprehensive Insurance covers the policy holder for any loss or damage to the policy holders 

vehicle caused either by themselves or a third party. It also covers any third party for loss or 

damage caused by the policy holder. Third Party Insurance, on the other hand only covers the 

third party for any loss of damage caused by the policy holder. 

 

Property insurance contracts mainly compensate the Company’s customers for damage suffered to 

their properties or for the value of property lost. Customers who undertake commercial activities 

on their premises could also receive compensation for the loss of earnings caused by the inability 

to use the insured properties in their business activities (business interruption cover). 

 

Casualty insurance contracts protect the Company’s customers against the risk of causing harm 

to third parties as a result of their legitimate activities. Damages covered include both 

contractual and non-contractual events. 

 

Short-duration life insurance contracts (credit life) protect the Company’s customers from the 

consequences of events that would affect the ability of the customer or customer’s dependents 

to maintain their current level of income. Guaranteed benefits paid on occurrence of the 

specified insurance event are either fixed or linked to the extent of the economic loss suffered 

by the policyholder. There is no maturity or surrender benefits.  

 

Products are reviewed by the business units on an annual basis to confirm, or otherwise, that 

pricing assumptions remain appropriate. Analysis is performed on earnings and liability 

movements to understand the source of any material variation in actual results from what was 

expected. This confirms the appropriateness of assumptions used in underwriting and pricing.  

 

For all these insurance contracts, premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) 

proportionally over the period of the coverage with the exception of marine cargo, where it is 

assumed that each policy is earned fully in the quarter following the quarter in which it was 

written; hence the unearned premium reserve (“UPR”) at the end of a particular quarter will be 

equal to the written premium in that quarter and engineering where UPR is calculated on 

increasing risk basis as required in the financial regulation issued by Insurance Authority. The 

portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the end of 

the reporting period is reported as the unearned premium liability. Premiums are shown before 

deduction of commissions. Earned premiums are shown as net of gross written premium, 

unearned premium revenue and unexpired risk reserve.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

3.3.2 Short-term insurance contracts (continued) 

 

Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to profit or loss as incurred based on the estimated 

liability for compensation owed to contract holders or third parties damaged by the contract holders. 

They include direct claims settlement costs which arise from events that have occurred up to the 

end of the reporting period even if they have not been reported to the Company. The Company 

does not discount its liabilities for unpaid claims. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated using 

the input of assessments for individual cases reported to the Company and statistical analyses for 

the claims incurred but not reported, and to estimate the expected ultimate cost of more complex 

claims that may be affected by external factors (such as court decisions).  

 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense reserves correspond to the provision representing future claim 

expenses and related handling costs that are not case specific. It represents all other expenses and 

costs that are related to the adjudication of claims but cannot be assigned to a specific claim. 

 

3.3.3 Long-term insurance contracts 

 

The Company writes single premium savings plan (Everest Product) which is a hybrid between 

Universal Life and a traditional Endowment plans for periods of 3, 5 or 7 years. The plan offers 

guaranteed maturity benefit and death benefit as higher of policy value or single premium paid. 

Policy value is calculated as the sum of general and separate account values as at the date of 

valuation.  

 

The general account value is invested in fixed deposits. The value of deposit as at the valuation 

date is taken to be general account value.  

 

Separate account is invested in international equities by the reinsurer who carries the 

investment risk.  

 

The reinsurer provides the Company with a policy wise separate account statement on a 

monthly basis. Since in this portfolio, there was no significant increases in separate account 

value therefore, the Company takes reinsurance premium paid to the reinsurer for separate 

account investment as the separate account value. The mathematical reserve is the sum of 

separate and general account values as at the valuation date. 

 

A liability for contractual benefits that are expected to be incurred in future is recorded when 

the premiums are recognised. Premiums are shown before the deduction of commissions. 

Claims and benefits payable to policyholders are recorded as expense when they are incurred.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.3 Insurance contracts (continued) 

 

3.3.4 Reinsurance contracts held 

 

Contracts entered by the Company with reinsurers under which the Company is compensated for 

losses on one or more contracts issued by the Company and that meet the classification 

requirements for insurance contracts are classified as reinsurance contracts held. Contracts that 

do not meet these classification requirements are classified as financial assets. Insurance 

contracts entered into by the Company under which the contract holder is another insurer 

(inward reinsurance) are included with insurance contracts. The benefits to which the Company 

is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance contract assets. 

These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as well as longer term 

receivables that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related 

reinsured insurance contracts. Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured 

consistently with the amounts associated with the reinsured insurance contracts and in 

accordance with the terms of each reinsurance contract. Reinsurance liabilities are primarily 

premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense when due. The 

Company assesses its reinsurance contract assets for impairment on a regular basis. If there is 

objective evidence that the reinsurance contract asset is impaired, the Company reduces the 

carrying amount of the reinsurance contract assets to its recoverable amount and recognises 

that impairment loss in the profit or loss.  

 

3.3.5 Deferred policy acquisition costs (“DAC”) 

 

Commissions and other acquisition costs for short-term insurance contracts that vary with and 

are related to securing new contracts and renewing existing contracts are capitalised as an 

intangible asset (DAC). All other costs are recognised as expenses when incurred. DAC is 

amortised over the terms of the policies as premium is earned. 

 

3.3.6 Salvage and subrogation reimbursements 

 

Some insurance contracts permit the Company to sell (usually damaged) assets acquired in 

settling claims (for example, salvage). The Company may also have the right to pursue third 

parties for payment of some or all costs (for example, subrogation). The allowance for salvage 

recoveries is the amount that can be reasonably recovered from the disposal of the asset and 

the allowance for subrogation reimbursements is the assessment of the amount that can be 

recovered from the action against the liable third party. Estimates of salvage recoveries and 

subrogation reimbursements are considered as an allowance in the measurement of the 

insurance liability for claims and recognised within receivables when the liability is settled. 

 

3.3.7 Liability adequacy test 

 

At the end of each reporting period, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure the 

adequacy of the insurance contract liabilities. In performing these tests, current best estimates 

of contractual future cash flows and claims handling and administrative expenses are used. Any 

deficiency is immediately charged to profit or loss by establishing a provision for losses arising 

from liability adequacy tests (the “unexpired risk reserve”). 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.4 Revenue recognition 

 

3.4.1 Interest income and expense 

 

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments is calculated by 

applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument, 

except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (or stage 3) (refer to 

Note 3.16.1(ii)), for which interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 

to their amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected credit loss provision) and are recognised within 

‘interest income’ in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

3.4.2 Dividend income 

 

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Company’s rights to receive 

payment have been established. 

 

3.4.3 Rental income 

 

Rental income from investment properties which are leased under operating leases is recognised 

on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.  

 

3.4.4 Reinsurance commission income  

 

Reinsurance commission income received when the reinsurance premium is ceded based on the 

terms and percentages agreed with the reinsurers is recognised as deferred commission income 

(“DCI”). DCI is amortised over the terms of the policies as premium ceded to reinsurers is 

expensed. 

 

3.5 Foreign currencies 

 

3.5.1 Functional and presentation currency 

 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of 

the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 

The Company’s financial statements are presented in Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”), which 

is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

 

3.5.2 Transactions and balances 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 

settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates, are generally recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of 

profit or loss, within “Investment income”.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.5 Foreign currencies (continued) 

 

3.5.2 Transactions and balances (continued) 

 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on 

assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For 

example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at 

fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or 

loss, and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair 

value through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
3.6 Employee benefits 

 

3.6.1 Defined contribution plan 

 

UAE national employees of the Company are members of the Government-managed retirement 

pension and social security benefit scheme pursuant to UAE labour law no. 7 of 1999. The 

Company is required to contribute 12.5% of the “contribution calculation salary” of payroll 

costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The employees and the Government 

contribute 5% and 2.5% of the “contribution calculation salary” respectively, to the scheme. 

The only obligation of the Company with respect to the retirement pension and social security 

scheme is to make the specified contributions. The contributions are charged to “General and 

administrative expenses” within profit or loss. 

 

3.6.2 Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 

 

Provision is also made for the full amount of end of service indemnity due to non-UAE national 

employees in accordance with the UAE Labour Law and is calculated annually using the 

projected unit credit method in accordance with IAS 19. The present value of the defined 

benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using profit 

rates on high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 

will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension 

obligation. Based upon an independent valuation, the present value of the future obligations is 

in line with the outstanding balance. 

 

3.6.3 Annual leave and leave passage 

 

An accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees' entitlement to annual leave and leave 

passage as a result of services rendered by eligible employees up to the end of the year. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.7 Dividend distribution 

 

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the 

Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividend is approved by the 

Company’s shareholders. 

 

3.8 Property and equipment  

 

Land and buildings are recognised at historical cost, less subsequent depreciation and impairment 

if any for buildings only. All other property and equipment are carried at historical cost less 

accumulated depreciation and any identified impairment losses. Historical cost includes 

expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  
 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 

as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 

amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All 

other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the reporting 

period in which they are incurred. 

 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost or revalued 

amounts of the assets, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

Furniture and fixtures 4 years 

Office equipment 4 years 

Motor vehicles 4 years 

Computer equipment 4 years 
 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year 

end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is 

determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 

and is recognised in profit or loss. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to 

its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 

amount (note 3.10).  
 

3.9 Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets comprise computer software and are reported at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and identified impairment losses, if any. Amortisation is charged on a straight-

line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method 

are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in 

estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. The useful lives considered in the 

calculation of amortisation is 10 years. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.10 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-

financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 

impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 

in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to 

estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable 

amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and 

consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 

cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 

units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 

recoverable amount.  

 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-

generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 

increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.  
 

3.11 Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 

as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the 

obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 

not recognized for future operating losses. 
 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 

the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 

flows. When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to 

be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 

that reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 

3.12 Share capital 
 

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in equity as 

a deduction from the proceeds. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.13 Leases 

 

The Company leases various offices. Rental contracts are typically annually renewable with 

the option of termination during the contract period subject to serving relevant notice period. 

 

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease 

liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: 

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 

receivable, 

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the 

index or rate as at the commencement date, 

• amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees, 

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise 

that option, and 

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company 

exercising that option. 

 

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 

measurement of the liability. Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. 

The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant 

periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot 

be readily determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the 

individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar 

value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security 

and conditions. 

 

Lease income from operating leases where the Company is a lessor is recognised in income on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating 

lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over 

the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in 

the statement of financial position based on their nature. 

 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 

received 

• any initial direct costs, and 

• restoration costs. 
 

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the 

lease term on a straight-line basis. If the group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase 

option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.  

 

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense 

in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a 

purchase option. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

3.14 Financial assets and liabilities 
 

Measurement methods 
 

Amortised cost and effective interest rate 
 

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured 

at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization 

using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the 

maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimate future cash payments or 

receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying 

amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the 

amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected credit losses 

and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees paid or received that are integral 

to the effective interest rate. When the Company revises the estimates of future cash flows, the 

carrying amount of the respective financial asset or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the 

new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised 

in profit or loss. 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 

are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the Company commits to purchase or sell 

the asset.   

 

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or a financial liability at its fair 

value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or a financial liability not at fair value 

through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are incremental and directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. Transaction 

costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss. 

Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (“ECL”) is recognised 

for financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured 

at FVTOCI, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when the 

asset is newly originated.  

 

3.14.1 Financial assets 

 

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement 

 

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

• Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”); 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”); or 

• Amortised cost 

 

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below: 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

3.14.1 Financial assets (continued) 

 

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

Debt instruments 

 

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the 

issuer’s perspective, such as loans and government and corporate bonds. Classification and 

subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on: 

 

• the Company’s business model for managing the assets; and  

• the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 

 

Based on those factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following 

three measurement categories: 

 

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where 

those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 

amount outstanding (“SPPI”), and that are not designated at FVTPL are measured at 

amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit 

loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 3.14.1 (ii). Interest income 

from these financial assets is included in “Interest income” using the effective interest 

rate method. 

 

• FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling 

the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding (“SPPI”), and that are not designated 

at FVTPL, are measured at FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken 

through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income 

and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in the statement of profit 

or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 

recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to the statement of profit or loss and 

recognised in “Investment income”. Interest income from these financial assets is 

included in “Interest income” using the effective interest rate method. 

 

• FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured 

at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL 

and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

and presented net within “Investment income – Net” in the period in which it arises. 

Interest income from these assets is included in “Interest income” using the effective 

interest rate method. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

3.14.1 Financial assets (continued) 

 

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

Business model 

 

The business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash 

flows. That is, whether the Company’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows 

from the asset or is to collect the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of 

the assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), 

then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business and measured at FVTPL. 

Factors considered by the Company in determining the business model for a group of assets 

include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s 

performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed 

and managed and how managers are compensated. 

 

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Company determines whether newly recognized 

financial assets are part of an existing business model or whether they reflect the 

commencement of a new business model. The Company reassess its business models each 

reporting period to determine whether the business models have changed since the preceding 

period. For the current and prior reporting periods, the Company has not identified a change in 

its business models. 

 

SPPI 

 

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect 

contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether the financial assets’ cash flows 

represent solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (the 

“SPPI test”). In making this assessment, the Company considers whether the contractual cash 

flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only consideration 

for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is 

consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure 

to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial 

asset is classified at FVTPL. 

 

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for 

managing those assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first 

reporting period following the change. Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and 

none occurred during the year. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

3.14.1 Financial assets (continued) 

 

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

Equity instruments 
 

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s 

perspective, that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that 

evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include 

basic ordinary shares. 
 

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at FVTPL, except where the 

Company’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity 

investment at FVTOCI. The Company’s policy is to designate equity investments at FVTOCI 

when those investments are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When 

this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not subsequently 

reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when representing a return on 

such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as “Investment income” when the 

Company’s right to receive payments is established. 

 

(ii) Impairment 
 

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECL”) 

associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI. The Company 

recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL 

reflects: 
 

• An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range 

of possible outcomes; 

• The time value of money; and 

• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort 

at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 

economic conditions. 
 

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 
 

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk 

on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other 

financial instruments, ECLs are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL. For 

insurance and other receivables, the Company applies the simplified approach permitted by 

IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the 

receivables.  

 

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase 

in credit risk. Details of ECL measurement methodology are disclosed in Note 33.2. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

3.14.1 Financial assets (continued) 

 

(ii) Impairment (continued) 

 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 

initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and 

supportable information that is relevant and available without undue costs or effort. This 

includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on Company’s 

historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking 

information. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the 

industries in which the Company’s counterparties operate, obtained from economic expert 

reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other similar 

organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast 

economic information that relate to the Company’s core operations. 

 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 

risk has increased significantly since initial recognition: 

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if 

available) or internal credit rating; 

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular 

financial instrument, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default 

swap prices for the debtor, or the length of time; 

• the extent to which the fair value of a financial asset has been less than its amortised 

cost; 

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 

are expected to cause; 

• a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; 

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; 

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 

technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 

 

Despite the foregoing, the Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has not 

increased significantly since initial recognition if the financial asset is determined to have low 

credit risk at the reporting date. A financial asset is determined to have low credit risk if: 

 

(i) The financial asset has a low risk of default, 

(ii) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the 

near term, and 

(iii) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will 

not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow 

obligations. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.14 Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 

3.14.1 Financial assets (continued) 

 

(ii) Impairment (continued) 

 

The Company regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there 

has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the 

criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes 

past due. 

 

(iii) Derecognition 

 

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive 

the cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) 

the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Company 

neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the 

Company has not retained control. Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable 

expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, 

among others, the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor. 

Impaired financial assets are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible. 

 

3.14.2 Financial liabilities 

 

The Company recognises a financial liability when it first becomes a party to the contractual 

rights and obligations in the contract. All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair 

value, minus (in the case of a financial liability that is not at FVTPL) transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to issuing the financial liability. Financial liabilities are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost.  

 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 

cancelled or expires.  

 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable 

transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Financial 

liabilities included in insurance and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortised cost. The fair value of a non-interest-bearing liability is 

its discounted repayment amount. If the due date of the liability is less than one year, 

discounting is omitted. 

 

3.15 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the statement of financial position 

only when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts or when the 

Company intends to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 

simultaneously. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.16 Borrowings 

 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 

transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 

the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan 

facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that 

some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-

down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility 

will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised 

over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

 

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified 

in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount 

of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the 

consideration paid, including any noncash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 

recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs. 

 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right 

to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 

 

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is 

required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 

sale. 

 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings, pending their 

expenditure on qualifying assets, is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 

capitalisation. 

 

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

 

3.17 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible 

to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Cash and cash equivalents are within the scope of IFRS 9 expected credit loss calculations for 

the assessment of impairment. 

 

3.18 Fixed deposits 

 

Fixed deposits are deposits held with banks with original maturities of more than three months, 

which are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Fixed 

deposits are within the scope of IFRS 9 expected credit loss calculation for the assessment of 

impairment. 
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4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 

uncertainty  
 

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3 to these 

financial statements, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 

about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 

factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 

estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods. The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, 

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a 

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year. 

 

4.1 Measurement of the expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowance 

 

The measurement of ECL is a significant estimate that involves determination of methodology, 

models and data inputs. Details of ECL measurement methodology are disclosed in Note 33.2. 

The following components have a major impact on the credit loss allowance for debt 

instruments carried at amortised cost, FVTOCI investments, bank balances and fixed deposits: 

definition of default, significant increase in credit risk, probability of default (“PD”), exposure 

at default (“EAD”), and loss given default (“LGD”) and the historical loss experience per 

ageing bucket has the major impact on the credit loss allowance for Insurance and other 

receivables. The Company regularly reviews and validates the models and inputs to the models 

to reduce any differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss 

experience. 

 

4.2 Liability adequacy testing 

 

When anticipated losses and loss adjustment expenses are expected to exceed the recorded net 

unearned premium reserves (net of reinsurer share of unearned premium reserves), an 

unexpired risk reserve (“URR”) is recorded. For the purpose of determining whether a URR is 

required, insurance contracts are segregated into various classes of business (i.e. medical, 

motor, fire, property, etc). If the premium deficiency is identified for a particular class of 

business, the entire deficiency is immediately recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Unexpired risk reserve is estimated using anticipated loss and loss adjustment expenses of the 

current year. Actual losses in the future period may be materially different from management 

estimation and may have material impact on the financial statements. 
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4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 

uncertainty (continued) 

 

4.3 The ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts 

 

Provision is made at the year-end for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the 

reporting date. The liability for outstanding claims includes the cost of claims reported but yet 

to be paid, claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”), and the estimated expenses to be 

incurred in settling claims. 

 

The process of establishing liability estimates is subject to considerable variability as it requires 

the use of informed estimates and judgments. These estimates and judgments are based on 

numerous factors and may be revised as additional experience becomes available or as 

regulations change. The liability for outstanding claims is estimated using the input of 

assessment for individual cases reported to the Company as well as assessments performed by 

external loss adjustors where deemed necessary. Claims requiring court or arbitration decisions 

are estimated individually. The Company takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has 

appropriate information regarding the risk of major storm, tempest and flood scenarios that 

exist in the UAE to estimate its claims exposures. However, given the uncertainty in 

establishing claims provisions, it is possible that the final outcome will prove to be different 

from the original liability established. 

 

The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the 

estimation of the cost of settling claims, where more information about the claim event is 

available. Classes of business which have a longer reporting tail and where the IBNR 

proportion of the total reserve is therefore high will typically display greater variations between 

initial estimates and final outcomes because of the greater degree of difficulty in estimating 

these liabilities. For the short-tailed classes, claims are typically reported soon after the claim 

event, and tend to display less variation. In calculating the required levels of provisions, the 

Company’s internal and external independent actuary use a variety of estimation techniques, 

generally based upon statistical analyses of historical experience, which assumes that the 

development pattern of the current claims will be consistent with past experience. 

 

In arriving at booked claims provisions, management also make allowance for changes or 

uncertainties which may create distortions in the underlying statistics or which might cause the 

cost of unsettled claims to increase or reduce when compared with the cost of previously settled 

claims including: 

 

• changes in patterns of claim incidence, reporting, processing, finalisation and payment; 

• changes in the legal environment. 

• the impact of inflation (both economic/wage and superimposed). 

• changes in the mix of business. 

• the impact of large losses. 

• the effects of inflation. 

• movements in industry benchmarks. 

• medical and technological developments. 

• changes in policyholder behaviour. 
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4 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 

uncertainty (continued) 

 

4.3 The ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts 

(continued) 

 

The methods used to analyse past claim experience and to project future claim experience are 

largely determined by the available data and the nature of the portfolio. The projections given 

by the different methodologies assist in setting the range of possible outcomes. The most 

appropriate estimation technique is selected taking into account the characteristics of the 

business class and the extent of the development of each accident year. 

 

Large claims impacting each relevant business class are generally assessed separately, being 

measured on a case-by-case basis or projected separately in order to allow for the possible 

distortive effect of the development and incidence of these large claims. 

 

Outstanding claims and claims incurred but not reported are calculated gross of reinsurance. A 

separate estimate is made of the amounts recoverable from reinsurers and third parties under 

reinsurance contracts based on the gross provisions. Future cash flows are not discounted for 

time value of money. 

 

The Company writes single premium savings plan (Everest Product) which is a hybrid between 

Universal Life and a traditional endowment plan. The plan offers guaranteed maturity benefit 

and death benefit as higher of policy value or single premium paid. The policy value is 

calculated as the sum of general and separate account values as at the date of valuation.  

 

The general account value is invested in fixed deposits. The value of deposit as at the valuation 

date is taken to be general account value. The separate account is invested in international 

equities by the reinsurer who carries the investment risk. The downside risk is hedged by the 

reinsurer through the purchase of call options to ensure separate account returns does not 

become negative. The reinsurer provides the Company with a policy wise separate account 

statement on a monthly basis. Since in this portfolio, there was no significant increases in 

separate account value therefore, the Company has taken reinsurance premium paid to the 

reinsurer for separate account investment as the separate account value. The mathematical 

reserve is the sum of separate and general account values as at the valuation date.  

 

Mathematical reserves of long-term life Everest product include unearned portion of revenue 

(commission income) to allow for expense reserves. 

 



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(continued) 

 

48 

5 Property and equipment 
 

  

Furniture 

and 

fixtures  

Office 

equipment  

Motor  

vehicles  

Computer 

equipment  

 

Total 

  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

           

Cost           

At 1 January 2021  7,044,230  1,220,939  812,705  5,475,984  14,553,858 

Additions during the year  110,952  31,692  -     417,218  559,862 

Disposals during the year  (8,557)  -     (16,650)  (9,699)  (34,906) 

Write offs during the year  (3,793,141)  (75,745)  -  (317,350)  (4,186,236) 

At 31 December 2021  3,353,484  1,176,886  796,055  5,566,153  10,892,578 

Additions during the year  104,448  32,347  -     98,018  234,813 

Disposals during the year  -  (6,058)  (394,499)  (19,781)  (420,338) 

Write offs during the year  (411,490)  -  -  -  (411,490) 

At 31 December 2022  3,046,442  1,203,175  401,556  5,644,390  10,295,563 

 

Accumulated depreciation           

At 1 January 2021  6,021,011  1,017,383  674,884  4,335,945  12,049,223 

Charge for the year (Note 26)  481,211  79,459  81,061  472,306  1,114,037 

Disposals during the year  (4,211)  -     (16,650)  (8,122)  (28,983) 

Write offs during the year  (3,793,096)  (75,739)  -  (317,342)  (4,186,177) 

At 31 December 2021  2,704,915  1,021,103  739,295  4,482,787  8,948,100 

Charge for the year (Note 26)  294,862  70,733  56,759  440,323  862,677 

Disposals during the year  -  (355)  (394,498)  (18,113)  (412,966) 

Write offs during the year  (373,864)  -  -  -  (373,864) 

At 31 December 2022  2,625,913  1,091,481  401,556  4,904,997  9,023,947 
 

 

Carrying amount           

At 31 December 2022  420,529  111,694  -  739,393  1,271,616 

At 31 December 2021  648,569  155,783  56,760  1,083,366  1,944,478 
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6 Intangible assets 
 Computer 

software 

 AED 

Cost  

At 31 December 2020 14,812,395 

Additions during the year 244,589 

At 31 December 2021 15,056,984 

Additions during the year 538,388 

At 31 December 2022 15,595,372 
  

Accumulated amortization  

At 31 December 2020 6,953,886 

Charge for the year (Note 26) 1,483,278 

At 31 December 2021 8,437,164 

Charge for the year (Note 26) 1,516,388 

At 31 December 2022 9,953,552 
 

Carrying amount 
 

At 31 December 2022 5,641,820 

At 31 December 2021 6,619,820 

 

7 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

(“FVTOCI”) 
 

The Company’s financial investments at the end of reporting period are detailed below. 

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

FVTOCI 108,553,951  112,724,162 

Less: Allowance for impairment (143,604)  (188,686) 

 108,410,347  112,535,476 

 

The composition of financial investment split between inside the UAE and outside the UAE as 

at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

 

 Inside UAE  Outside UAE  Total 

 2022  2021  2022  2021  2022  2021 

 AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

            

FVTOCI:            

Quoted 

debt 47,062,538  44,281,341  59,353,497  67,520,430  106,416,035  111,801,771 

Quoted 

equity 1,994,312  733,705  -     -  1,994,312  733,705 

 49,056,850  45,015,046  59,353,497  67,520,430  108,410,347  112,535,476 
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7 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

(“FVTOCI”) (continued) 

 

The Company has designated all investments in equity and debt instruments that are not held for 

trading as at FVTOCI. Debt instruments carry interest at the rate of 1.96% to 6.75% (2021: 1.96% 

to 6.75%) per annum. They are redeemable at par from 2023 to 2033 (2021: 2022 to 2033) based 

on their maturity dates. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk for debt instruments 

and the carrying amount reflected above represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit 

risk for such assets. 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company charged amortisation of premium on 

debt instruments to profit or loss amounting to AED 229,465 (2021: AED 272,413). 

 

As of 31 December 2021, the financial assets held at FVTOCI disclosed above include quoted 

debt investments amounting to AED 69,544,000 which are pledged against the bank borrowings 

(Note 17). 

 

The movement in the financial investments is as follows: 

 

 

FVTOCI - 

debt  

FVTOCI - 

equity  

FVTOCI -  

total 

 AED  AED  AED 

      

Balance at 1 January 2021 57,499,288    15,407,141   72,906,429 

Additions during the year 100,598,176     165,972   100,764,148 

Disposals during the year (37,970,372)   (15,449,495)  (53,419,867) 

Maturity during the year  (7,346,000)   -     (7,346,000) 

Net change in fair value  (1,793,234)    233,693   (1,559,541) 

Realised gain on disposal of financial 

investments 

 1,102,114     376,394   1,478,508 

Amortisation of premium on FVTOCI  

debt investments to profit or loss 

 (272,413)    -     (272,413) 

Less: Allowance for impairment  (15,788)    -     (15,788) 

Balance at 31 December 2021  111,801,771    733,705   112,535,476 

Additions during the year 19,852,768  1,505,362  21,358,130 

Maturity during the year (12,253,130)  -     (12,253,130) 

Net change in fair value (12,800,991)  (244,755)  (13,045,746) 

Amortisation of premium on FVTOCI  

debt investments charged to profit or 

loss (229,465)  -     (229,465) 

Add: Release of impairment 45,082  -     45,082 

Balance at 31 December 2022 106,416,035  1,994,312  108,410,347 
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7 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

(“FVTOCI”) (continued) 

 

Details of allowance for impairment are as follows: 

 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Balance at 1 January 188,686  172,898 

(Reversal) / provision of impairment during the year (45,082)  15,788 

Balance at 31 December 143,604  188,686 

 

There were no reclassifications between financial investment categories during 2022 and 2021. 

 

All the investments in scope of the impairment model are in Stage 1 and there have been no 

movements between the stages during the year. 

 

8 Statutory deposit  
 

A deposit of AED 10 million (31 December 2021: AED 10 million) has been placed with one 

of the banks, in accordance with Article (42) of the UAE Federal Law No. (6) of 2007, as 

amended. This deposit has been pledged to the bank as security against a guarantee issued by 

the bank in favour of the CBUAE for the same amount. This deposit cannot be withdrawn 

without prior approval of the CBUAE and bears an interest rate of 4.5% per annum (2021: 0.5% 

per annum). 
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9 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets  
 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

Insurance contract liabilities    

Outstanding claims 130,448,031  142,334,853 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense reserve 6,520,455  4,601,892 

Claims incurred but not reported 44,774,580  46,386,077 

Unexpired risk reserve 13,761,768  17,730,710 

Unearned premiums 165,865,170  189,547,859 

Mathematical reserve 11,480,086  14,961,082 

 372,850,090  415,562,473 

Reinsurance contract assets    

Outstanding claims (96,936,685)  (106,204,231) 

Claims incurred but not reported (27,222,708)  (30,518,707) 

Unexpired risk reserve (4,623,429)  (13,679,717) 

Unearned premiums (63,346,550)  (65,177,742) 

Mathematical reserve (156,201)  (1,711,505) 

 (192,285,573)  (217,291,902) 

Insurance contract liabilities - net    

Outstanding claims 33,511,346  36,130,622 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense reserve 6,520,455  4,601,892 

Claims incurred but not reported 17,551,872  15,867,370 

Unexpired risk reserve 9,138,339  4,050,993 

Unearned premiums 102,518,620  124,370,117 

Mathematical reserve 11,323,885  13,249,577 

 180,564,517  198,270,571 

 

As at 31 December 2022, the gross and net insurance contract liabilities as certified by the 

Company’s appointed actuary, LUX Actuaries & Consultants amounted to AED 373 million and 

AED 181 million respectively (31 December 2021: AED 416 million and AED 198 million 

respectively). Claims incurred but not reported have been calculated on a best estimate basis. The 

actuary used Chain Ladder (“CL”), Bornhuetter-Ferguson (“BF”), Expected Loss Ratios (“ELR”) 

and Cape Cod (“CC”) methods to estimate the ultimate claims. After applying each of the methods 

listed, the actuary took a weighted average of the results of the methods. During the year ended 

31 December 2022, the gross and net loss ratios assumption for credit life have been reduced from 

35% to 25% and 18% to 10% respectively. Further, the assumptions for the calculation of 

additional unexpired risk reserve has changed in line with recent change in regulations to use 

fractional expensing when calculating the expense ratios. 
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9 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
 

Movements in the insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets during the year were as follows: 
 

 

 2022  2021 

 Gross  Reinsurance  Net  Gross   Reinsurance  Net 

 AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

Claims            

Outstanding claims 142,334,853  (106,204,231)  36,130,622  81,495,011  (58,411,010)  23,084,001 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense 

reserve 4,601,892  -     4,601,892  2,840,928  -  2,840,928 

Claims incurred but not reported 46,386,077  (30,518,707)  15,867,370  52,610,060  (27,766,148)  24,843,912 

Total at 1 January  193,322,822  (136,722,938)  56,599,884  136,945,999  (86,177,158)  50,768,841 

            

Claims settled during the year (296,246,775)  110,937,237  (185,309,538)  (277,268,762)  116,727,718  (160,541,044) 

Increase in liabilities:            

Arising from current year claims 305,201,495  (128,067,665)  177,133,830  336,940,079  (178,294,655)  158,645,424 

Arising from prior year claims (20,534,476)  29,693,973  9,159,497  (3,294,494)  11,021,157  7,726,663 

Total at 31 December 181,743,066  (124,159,393)  57,583,673  193,322,822  (136,722,938)  56,599,884 
            

Outstanding claims 130,448,031  (96,936,685)  33,511,346  142,334,853  (106,204,231)  36,130,622 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense 

reserve 6,520,455  -     6,520,455  4,601,892  -  4,601,892 

Claims incurred but not reported 44,774,580  (27,222,708)  17,551,872  46,386,077  (30,518,707)  15,867,370 

Total at 31 December 181,743,066  (124,159,393)  57,583,673  193,322,822  (136,722,938)  56,599,884 
            

Unearned premium and unexpired risk 

reserves            

Total at 1 January 207,278,569  (78,857,459)  128,421,110  197,482,595  (78,506,234)  118,976,361 

Premiums written during the year (Note 20) 432,984,616  (186,109,027)  246,875,589  469,148,327  (184,516,982)  284,631,345 

Premiums earned during the year (460,636,247)  196,996,507  (263,639,740)  (459,352,353)  184,165,757  (275,186,596) 

Net movements during the year (27,651,631)  10,887,480  (16,764,151)  9,795,974  (351,225)  9,444,749 

Total at 31 December 179,626,938  (67,969,979)  111,656,959  207,278,569  (78,857,459)  128,421,110 
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9 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

Mathematical reserve – gross    

Total at 1 January 14,961,082  14,264,479 

(Decrease) / increase during the year (3,480,996)  696,603 

Total at 31 December 11,480,086  14,961,082 
 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

Mathematical reserve - reinsurance    

Total at 1 January (1,711,505)  (1,432,971) 

Decrease / (increase) during the year 1,555,304  (278,534) 

Total at 31 December (156,201)  (1,711,505) 
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9 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
 

In addition to scenario testing, the development of insurance liabilities provides a measure of the Company’s ability to estimate the ultimate value of 

claims. The top half of each table illustrates how the Company’s estimate of total claims outstanding for each accident year has changed at successive 

year-ends. The bottom half of the table reconciles the cumulative claims to the amount appearing in the statement of financial position. The following 

tables illustrate the Company’s estimate of total claims outstanding and claims incurred but not reported for the years up to 2022. 

 
Gross incurred claims at 31 December 2022 
 

Accident year  

2016 and    

prior  2017  2018  2019  2020  2021  

 

2022 

 

Total 

 AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

                

At the end of each 

reporting year 1,063,379,507  206,708,854  289,482,870  513,297,622  399,077,423  336,940,079  

 

305,201,495 

 

305,201,495 

One year later 1,049,998,527  191,259,704  261,270,119    482,305,594  385,519,890  305,803,750  -  305,803,750 

Two years later 1,047,623,817  186,630,620  255,518,050     501,177,149  383,412,064  -  -  383,412,064 

Three years later 1,033,651,330  186,389,070  254,421,507  487,632,634  -  -  -  487,632,634 

Four years later 1,031,214,261  185,210,124  253,471,505  -  -  -  -  253,471,505 

Five years later 1,024,881,234  183,898,132  -  -  -  -  -  183,898,132 

Six years later 1,022,784,257  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,022,784,257 

Estimate of  

cumulative claims 1,022,784,257  183,898,132  253,471,505  487,632,634  383,412,064  305,803,750  305,201,495 

 

2,942,203,837 

Cumulative payments 

to date (1,022,199,603)  (183,015,371)  (250,038,643)  (482,357,927)  (371,690,402)  (247,948,198)  

 

(209,731,082) 

 

(2,766,981,226) 

Total gross reserves 

included in the 

statement of 

financial position 584,654  882,761  3,432,862  5,274,707  11,721,662  57,855,552  95,470,413 

 

175,222,611 
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9 Insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets (continued) 
 
Net incurred claims at 31 December 2022 
 
 

Accident year  

2016 and    

prior  2017  2018  2019  2020  2021  

 

2022 

 

Total 

 AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

                

At the end of each 

reporting year 718,231,329  113,561,285  125,097,160  267,264,348  229,561,512  158,645,424  

 

177,133,830 

 

177,133,830 

One year later 721,240,889  105,199,030  112,608,458  256,386,377  224,471,018  153,057,798  -  153,057,798 

Two years later 717,670,445  105,136,987  107,627,969  271,131,930  223,476,717  -  -  223,476,717 

Three years later 713,922,637  100,585,664  107,566,657  259,069,664  -  -  -  259,069,664 

Four years later 713,190,105  100,051,847  107,299,494  -  -  -  -  107,299,494 

Five years later 711,856,838  99,535,024 - -  -  -  -  -  99,535,024 

Six years later 711,307,976  -  -  -  -  -  -  711,307,976 

Estimate of  

cumulative claims 711,307,976  99,535,024  107,299,494  259,069,664  223,476,717  153,057,798  

 

177,133,830 

 

1,730,880,503 

Cumulative payments 

to date (711,117,825)  (99,154,839)  (106,579,949)  (257,854,216)  (220,916,095)  (145,238,363)  

 

(138,955,998) 

 

(1,679,817,285) 

Total net reserves 

included in the 

statement of 

financial position 190,151  380,185  719,545  1,215,448  2,560,622  7,819,435  38,177,832 

 

51,063,218 
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10 Insurance and other receivables 
 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 
    

Premium receivables 101,068,260  126,726,429 

Reinsurance companies’ receivables 13,204,521  40,074,434 

Insurance agents and brokers receivables 1,606,539  1,350,299 

Due from related parties (Note 25) 16,999,864  21,854,463 

Accrual of interest and other income 795,702  9,569,487 

Advances and prepayments 5,839,930  7,117,445 

Other receivables 5,261,529  1,288,055 

 144,776,345  207,980,612 

Less: Allowance for impairment (29,048,491)  (32,575,209) 

 115,727,854  175,405,403 
 

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables mainly pertain to an amount of AED 3.9 million for 

the exposure to a Lebanese bank that was reclassified from Bank balances and fixed deposits to 

other receivables as it no longer meets the recognition and classification requirements of cash at 

bank (Note 12). 
 

The Company always measures the loss allowance for receivables at an amount equal to lifetime 

ECL. The expected credit losses on insurance and other receivables are estimated using a 

provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the 

debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 

economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the 

current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.  
 

Before accepting any new customer, the Company assesses the potential customers’ credit quality 

and defines credit limits by customer. Of the gross premium receivables balance at the end of year, 

AED 13 million (2021: AED 13 million) is due from the Company’s largest customer. 

 

Ageing of premium receivables and due from related parties: 

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 ECL rates  ECL rates  AED  AED 

        

Not due 1%  1%  59,536,441   75,978,300  

0 - 90 days 4%  4%  31,708,672   37,903,861  

91 - 180 days 14%  14%  4,821,394   9,266,786  

181 - 270 days 31%  31%  3,043,633   3,697,809  

271 – 365 days 49%  49%  3,291,940   3,415,787  

Over 365 days 90%  84%  15,666,044   18,318,349  

     118,068,124  148,580,892 

Less: Allowance for 

impairment  

 

 

 

(19,165,142)       (22,464,901) 

     98,902,982  126,115,991 
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10 Insurance and other receivables (continued) 

 

Ageing of reinsurance companies’ receivable 

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021  2022  2021 

 ECL rates  ECL rates  AED  AED 

        

Not due 1%  1%  -      699,961  

0 - 90 days 4%  4%  4,757,422   9,937,632  

91 - 180 days 7%  7%  819,683   10,268,980  

181 - 270 days 16%  16%  2,272,292   4,208,453  

271 – 365 days 24%  24%  1,989,663   3,021,499  

Over 365 days 25%  25%  3,365,461   11,937,909  

     13,204,521  40,074,434 

Less: Allowance for 

impairment  

 

 

 

(5,525,753)  (7,803,483) 

     7,678,768  32,270,951 

 

Ageing of insurance agents and brokers receivables 

 

   As at 31 December 

   2022  2021 

   AED  AED 

      

Not due   -  - 

0 - 90 days   1,383  - 

91 - 180 days   -  - 

181 - 270 days   80  - 

271 – 365 days   172,911  - 

Over 365 days   1,432,165  1,350,299 

   1,606,539  1,350,299 

Less: Allowance for impairment   (1,606,539)  (1,350,299) 

   -  - 

 

Movements in the allowance for impairment was as follows: 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 
    

Balance at 1 January 32,575,209  54,708,082 

Charge for impairment during the year 7,252,105  187,850 

Transfer of provision for asset in Lebanon (Note 12) 1,395,716  - 

Write-offs during the year (12,174,539)  (22,320,723) 

Balance at 31 December 29,048,491  32,575,209 

 

The balances written off during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 have been assessed 

by management as non-recoverable and written off after obtaining the necessary approvals. 
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11 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 
    

Cash in hand 19,295  24,567 

Current accounts with banks 9,609,452  42,032,940 

Fixed deposits with original maturities of three months or 

less -  15,335,425 

 9,628,747  57,392,932 

    

Fixed deposits with original maturities of three months or less are Nil as at 31 December 2022 (31 

December 2021: AED 15,335,425 and carry an interest rate of 2.65% per annum) 

 

12 Bank balances and fixed deposits 

   

 

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022   2021 

 AED   AED 

     

Current accounts with a Lebanese bank -   3,988,161 

Allowance for impairment -   (1,395,716) 

Total current accounts with a Lebanese bank -   2,592,445 

     

Fixed deposits with original maturities greater than three 

months 266,850,379  

 

189,330,246 

Fixed deposits under lien 600,000   600,000 

Allowance for impairment (138,000)   (137,072) 

Total fixed deposits 267,312,379   189,793,174 

Total banks balances and fixed deposits 267,312,379   192,385,619 

     
 

As at 31 December 2021, the exposure to a Lebanese bank does not meet the requirements to be 

classified as ‘Cash and cash equivalents’, as cash and cash equivalents are subject to an 

insignificant risk of changes in value. Accordingly, the balance with a Lebanese bank was 

classified separately. As at 31 December 2022, the exposure to a Lebanese bank was transferred 

to other receivables as it is no longer meets the recognition and classification requirement of cash 

at bank (Note 10). 

 

Certain fixed deposits with carrying amount of AED 600,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 

AED 600,000) are under lien against letters of guarantee (Note 29). 
 

The interest rate on fixed deposits with original maturities of greater than three months ranges 

between 1.8% to 5.65% (2021: 0.5% to 4.8%) per annum. All fixed deposits are held in local 

banks in the United Arab Emirates. 

 

As of 31 December 2022, ‘fixed deposits with original maturities greater than three months’ 

disclosed above include deposits amounting to AED 50,102,945 which are pledged against the 

bank borrowings (Note 17).  



Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(continued) 

 

60 

12 Bank balances and fixed deposits (continued) 
    
 

   

Details of allowance for impairment as per IFRS 9 are as follows: 

 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Balance at 1 January 1,532,788  163,509 

Provision for impairment during the year 928  1,369,279 

Transfer of provision for asset in Lebanon (Note 10) (1,395,716)  - 

Balance at 31 December 138,000  1,532,788 

 

All the bank balances and fixed deposits in scope of the impairment model are in Stage 1 and there 

have been no movements between the stages during the year. 

 

13 Share capital 
 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Authorised, issued and fully paid:    

121.275 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each  

   (2021: 121.275 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each) 121,275,000  121,275,000 

 

14 Reserves 
 

14.1 Statutory reserve 

 

In accordance with the Companies Law, and the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company 

has established a statutory reserve by appropriation of 10% of profit for each year until the reserve 

equals 50% of the paid-up share capital. This reserve is not available for distribution except as 

stipulated by the Law. There has been no transfer to statutory reserve during the year ended 31 

December 2022 as the Company incurred a loss during the year. 

 

14.2 Voluntary reserve  

 

As per the Company’s Articles of Association, voluntary reserve can be created upon a 

recommendation of the Board of Directors and this reserve cannot be utilised for any other purpose 

unless approved by the Shareholders’ General Assembly. No transfer to voluntary reserve was 

made during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.  
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14 Reserves (continued) 
 

14.3 Reinsurance reserve  

 

In accordance with Article 34 of the Insurance Authority’s Board of Directors Decision No. 

(23) of 2019, the Company has transferred AED 930,545 from ‘Accumulated losses / retained 

earnings’ to the ‘Reinsurance Reserve’ being 0.5% of the total insurance premium ceded to 

reinsurers during the year ended 31 December 2022 (year ended 31 December 2021: AED 

922,585). The Company shall accumulate such provision year on year and shall not dispose of 

the reserve without the written approval of the assistant governor of the banking and insurance 

supervision department within CBUAE. 

 

15 Provision for employees’ end of service indemnity 
 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Balance at the 1 January 6,115,257  6,064,285 

Charge for the year (Note 27) 1,713,835  1,136,399 

Amounts paid during the year (1,572,333)  (1,085,427) 

Balance at 31 December 6,256,759  6,115,257 

    

16 Insurance and other payables 
 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Payables to third party administrators and suppliers 34,122,794   35,049,433  

Reinsurance companies’ payables 55,932,834  42,181,096 

Due to related parties (Note 25) 19,800,519   13,463,225  

Accrued expenses 16,223,950  6,837,103 

Employees' benefits payable -   2,074,446  

Commission payable 12,505,125   18,477,442  

Other payable balances 3,957,229   3,835,190  

Dividends payable 1,925,372   1,925,372  

 144,467,823  123,843,307 

 

Accrued expenses relate to amounts incurred in the normal course of business such as reinsurance 

accruals and adjustments, fees payable to regulators and other professionals. 
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16 Insurance and other payables (continued) 

 

The Company’s insurance and other payables geographic distribution was as follows: 

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Inside UAE 116,248,019   81,662,211  

Outside U.A.E 28,219,804    42,181,096 

 144,467,823  123,843,307 

 

17 Bank borrowings 
 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Short-term bank loans 50,000,000  33,056,997 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company undertook overdraft facilities amounting 

to AED 50,000,000 secured against fixed deposits with carrying value of AED 50,102,945 (Note 

12). The overdraft carries an interest rate of AED 0.5% above the interest rate earned on the fixed 

deposits secured against the overdraft facilities and are repayable on demand. 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company obtained a short-term loan amounting 

AED 33,056,997 to fund the purchase of investment securities. The loan was secured by 

assignment of debt investments in the amount of AED 69,544,000 as at 31 December 2021 in 

favor of the National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah, the Parent Company (Notes 7 and 25). The loan 

carried an interest rate of 0.85% per annum plus 3 Month USD LIBOR. The loan matured on 8 

September 2022 and was repaid on 30 September 2022. 

 

18 Deferred commission income 
 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Balance at 1 January 15,563,294  19,240,758 

Commission received during the year 12,861,582  14,683,138 

Commission income earned during the year (18,499,483)  (18,360,602) 

Balance at 31 December 9,925,393  15,563,294 

 

Of the deferred commission income balance as at 31 December 2022, AED 9,909,610 (2021: 

AED 11,331,949) is expected to be earned no more than 12 months after the reporting period 

and AED 15,783 (2021: AED 4,231,345) is expected to be earned more than 12 months after 

the reporting period. 
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19 Deferred acquisition cost 
 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Balance at 1 January 23,228,424   24,088,139  

Acquisition costs paid during the year 74,671,735   75,476,830  

Amortisation charge for the year (79,737,929)   (76,336,545) 

Balance at 31 December 18,162,230  23,228,424 
 

Of the deferred acquisition cost balance as at 31 December 2022, AED 18,130,586 (2021: AED 

19,167,846) is expected to be amortised no more than 12 months after the reporting period and 

AED 31,644 (2021: AED 4,060,578) is expected to be amortised more than 12 months after 

the reporting period. 

 

20 Net insurance premium revenue 
 

 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

Gross written premiums    

Gross written premiums 432,984,616  469,148,327 

Change in unearned premiums  23,682,689  (16,154,677) 

Change in unexpired risk reserve (“URR”)   3,968,942  6,358,703 

 460,636,247  459,352,353 

    

Reinsurance premium ceded    

Reinsurance premiums ceded (186,109,027)  (184,516,982) 

Change in reinsurance share of unearned premiums  (1,831,192)  7,766,762 

Change in reinsurance share of unexpired risk reserve 

(“URR”)  (9,056,288)  (7,415,537) 

 (196,996,507)    (184,165,757) 

    

Net insurance premium revenue 263,639,740  275,186,596 

 

21 Interest income  
 

 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Interest income from fixed deposits 5,682,453  6,620,378 

Interest income from financial assets at FVTOCI 3,938,466  1,852,817 

 9,620,919  8,473,195 
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22 Investment income 

 

 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Dividend income from financial investments 65,944  774,714 

Net income from investment properties  -  183,929 

Realised gain on disposal of debt instruments measured  

at FVTOCI (Note 7) -  1,102,114 

Realised gain on disposal of investment properties * -  4,805,380 

 65,944  6,866,137 

 
* The Company previously held a plot of land located in Sharjah, UAE and 4 villas located in 

Dubai, UAE and were classified as investment properties. During the year ended 31 December 

2021, management sold the investment properties to independent third parties for AED 20.1 

million which has resulted in a gain on disposal of AED 4.8 million. 

 

23 Social contributions 
 

Social contributions during the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to AED 31,980 (2021: 

AED 17,632). 

 

24 Basic and diluted (loss) / earnings per share 
 

 2022  2021 

    

(Loss) / profit for the year ended 31 December (in AED) (34,974,479)  10,471,855 

    

Weighted average number of shares as at 31 December 121,275,000  121,275,000 

    

Basic and diluted (loss) / earnings per share for the year 

ended 31 December (in AED per share) (0.29)  0.09 

 

Basic and diluted (loss) / earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss) / profit for the 

year by the number of weighted average shares outstanding as at year end. Diluted (loss) / 

earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is equivalent to basic (loss) 

/ earnings per share as the Company did not issue any new instrument that would impact (loss) 

/ earnings per share when executed. 
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25 Related party balances and transactions 
 

The Company, in the normal course of business, collects premiums, settles claims, and enters 

into transactions with other business enterprises that fall within the definition of a related party 

as defined by International Accounting Standard 24. Related parties include the Company’s 

major shareholders, directors and businesses controlled by them and their families over which 

they exercise significant management influence as well as key management personnel. The 

Company’s management believes that the terms of such transactions are not significantly 

different from those that could have been obtained from third parties.  

 

Amounts due from / (to) related parties included in the statement of financial position  

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 
    

Due from Parent company (premiums receivable) 5,240,255  9,036,076 

Due from directors (premiums receivable) 44,648  6,300 

Due from other related parties under common control 

(premiums receivable) 11,714,961  12,812,087 

Total due from related parties (Note 10) 16,999,864  21,854,463 

    

Due to Parent company (commission payable) (18,938,754)  (13,428,722) 

Due to other related parties under common control 

(claims payable) (861,765)  (34,503) 

Total due to related parties (Note 16) (19,800,519)  (13,463,225) 

    

Fixed deposits placed with Parent company 124,017,267  41,725,250 

Bank balances placed with Parent company 8,634,651  35,988,821 

Bank borrowings (Parent company) (Note 17) -  (33,056,997) 

Accrued interest payable on bank borrowings (Parent 

company) -  (23,648) 

Allowance for impairment on premiums receivable 

and bank balances (Parent company) (466,474)  (107,180) 
 

Balances due from and to related parties are interest free and repayable on demand, except for the 

bank borrowings disclosed in Note 17. 
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25 Related party balances and transactions (continued) 
 

Transactions with related parties during the year  
 

 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 
    

Gross written premiums (Parent company) 123,857,020  127,788,929 

Gross written premiums (Directors) 157,611  98,585 

Gross written premiums (other related parties under 

common control) 27,469,174  26,490,028 

Commission expenses (Parent Company) (46,365,159)  (53,632,507) 

Claims paid (Parent company) (56,868,155)  (61,218,606) 

Claims paid (Directors) (66,715)  - 

Claims paid (other related parties under common 

control) (2,895,272)  (1,315,263) 

Rent expenses (Parent company) (475,000)  (475,000) 

Central function support recharges (parent company) (1,000,000)  (500,000) 

Interest income (Parent company) 1,988,509  616,282 

Dividends (Parent company) (7,687,069)  (7,687,069) 

Dividends (Directors) (1,538,560)  (1,511,200) 

Interest expense (Parent company) (480,359)  (23,648) 

Provision for impairment (Parent company) (359,294)  (380,241) 
 

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company purchased financial assets at FVTOCI 

amounting to AED 19.9 million and did not sell any financial assets at FVTOCI (31 December 

2021: purchased financial assets at FVTOCI amounting to AED 100.8 million and sold 

financial assets at FVTOCI amounting to AED 53.4 million) through the Parent company to / 

from external parties. 
 

Compensation of Board of Directors and key management personnel  
 

 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 
    

Short-term benefits 7,680,255   6,010,314 

Long-term benefits 467,931   266,836  

Board of Directors’ remuneration -   1,000,000  
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26 General and administrative expenses 
 

 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Staff costs (Note 27) 37,434,423   34,540,893  

Professional fees 4,298,306   2,108,197  

Marketing expenses 349,068   315,386  

Communication expenses 927,840   814,509  

Travel and entertainment expenses 206,844   154,436  

Depreciation of property and equipment (Note 5) 862,677   1,114,037  

Depreciation of investment properties  -   42,651  

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 6) 1,516,388   1,483,278  

Rental costs – operating leases 1,151,544   1,148,805  

Administration and license expenses 2,821,080   1,467,538  

IT, utilities and maintenance 4,276,434   3,983,125  

Supervision and training fees 2,101,517   2,271,777  

Bank charges 1,740,461   911,493  

Other expenses 1,582,552   4,921,839 

 59,269,134  55,277,964 

 

27 Staff costs 
 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Salaries and allowances 31,692,693   27,506,404  

Employees’ end of service benefits (Note 15) 1,713,835   1,136,399  

Staff insurance 1,696,232   1,668,633  

Other staff benefits 2,331,663   4,229,457  

 37,434,423  34,540,893 
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28 Other underwriting income 
 

Other underwriting income include admin fee earned for Credit Islamic Business on fronting 

arrangements with other insurance companies in the UAE. 
 

29 Contingent liabilities 
 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 
    

Letters of guarantee 10,567,341  10,567,481 
 

Letters of guarantee includes AED 10 million (31 December 2021: AED 10 million) issued in 

favour of the CBUAE. 

 

Certain fixed deposits with carrying amount of AED 600,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 

AED 600,000) are under lien against letters of guarantee (Note 12). 

 

The above bank guarantees were issued in the normal course of business. 
 

The Company, in common with the significant majority of insurers, is subject to litigation in 

the normal course of its business. The Company, based on independent legal advice, does not 

expect that the outcome of these court cases will have a material impact on the Company’s 

financial performance or financial position.  

 

30 Insurance risk 
  

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and 

the uncertainty of the amount of the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract, 

this risk is random and therefore unpredictable. The Company writes the general, medical and 

life insurance contracts. General insurance contracts of the Company include Liability, 

Property, Motor, Fire, Marine and Engineering insurance contracts. Medical insurance 

contracts include both individual and group medical insurance contracts. Life insurance 

contracts include group, retail and credit life insurance contracts. 

  

The principal risk the Company faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and 

benefit payments or the timing thereof, differ from expectations. This is influenced by the 

frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of 

long-term claims. Therefore, the objective of the Company is to ensure that sufficient reserves 

are available to cover these liabilities. 

 

Risk management framework 

 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

Company's risk management framework. The Board has established the Audit and Risk 

Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Company's risk 

management policies. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its 

activities.  
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30 Insurance risk (continued) 
 

Risk management framework (continued) 

 

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 

by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence 

to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in 

market conditions and the Company's activities. 

 

The Company's Audit and Risk Committee oversees how management monitors compliance 

with the Company's risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the 

risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company. The Company's 

Audit and Risk Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit and Risk functions. 

 

Two key elements of the Company's insurance risk management framework are its 

underwriting strategy and reinsurance strategy, as discussed below. 

 

Underwriting strategy 

 

The Company's underwriting strategy is to build balanced portfolios based on a large number 

of similar risks. This reduces the variability of the portfolio’s outcome. 

 

The underwriting strategy is set out by the Company that establishes the classes of business to 

be written, the territories in which business is to be written and the industry sectors in which 

the Company is prepared to underwrite. This strategy is cascaded by the business units to 

individual underwriters through detailed underwriting authorities that set out the limits that any 

one underwriter can write by line size, class of business, territory and industry in order to ensure 

appropriate risk selection within the portfolio. 

 

Reinsurance strategy 

 

The Company reinsures a portion of the insurance risks it underwrites in order to control its 

exposure to losses and protect capital resources. 

 

Ceded reinsurance contains credit risk, as discussed in the financial risk management note. The 

Company has a Reinsurance department that is responsible for setting the minimum security 

criteria for acceptable reinsurance and monitoring the purchase of reinsurance by the business 

units against those criteria. The department monitors developments in the reinsurance 

programme and its ongoing adequacy. 

 

The Company enters into a combination of proportionate and non-proportionate reinsurance 

treaties to reduce the net exposure to the Company. In addition, underwriters are allowed to 

buy facultative reinsurance in certain specified circumstances.  
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30 Insurance risk (continued) 

 

30.1 Frequency and severity of claims 

 

The Company manages insurance risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance 

arrangements and proactive claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure that 

the underwritten risks are well diversified in terms of type and amount of risk, industry and 

geography. Underwriting limits are in place to enforce appropriate risk selection criteria, as 

well as the use of reinsurance arrangements. 

 

The Company has the right not to renew individual policies, re-price the risk, impose 

deductibles and reject the payment of a fraudulent claim for both short and long-term insurance 

contracts. Insurance contracts also entitle the Company to pursue third parties for payment of 

some or all costs (for example, subrogation). 

 

The reinsurance arrangements include excess of loss and catastrophe coverage. The effect of 

such reinsurance arrangements is that the Company should not suffer net insurance losses of a 

set limit of AED 245,000 per vehicle/Event for motor insurance and AED 100,000 per member 

for medical insurance class of business in any policy (2021: AED 350,000 for motor insurance 

and AED 100,000 for medical insurance). Similarly, net loss retained for general lines of 

business will not exceed AED 1,500,000 and for event loss AED 4,500,000. In addition to the 

overall Company reinsurance program, business units are permitted to purchase additional 

facultative reinsurance protection, if needed. 

 

The following tables disclose the concentration of insurance liabilities by line of business. The 

amounts are the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities (gross and net of reinsurance) 

arising from the insurance contracts: 

 

 As at 31 December 2022 

 Gross  Reinsurance  Net 

 AED  AED   AED 

      

Motor 77,110,386  (25,174,028)  51,936,358 

Marine and aviation 6,237,003  (4,660,015)  1,576,988 

Medical  121,912,295  (31,337,254)  90,575,041 

Life 37,043,527  (21,481,261)  15,562,266 

Engineering, fire, general accidents and 

others 130,546,879  (109,633,015)  20,913,864 

 372,850,090  (192,285,573)  180,564,517 
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30 Insurance risk (continued) 

 

30.1 Frequency and severity of claims (continued) 

 

 As at 31 December 2021 

 Gross  Reinsurance  Net 

 AED  AED   AED 

      

Motor 67,220,181  (26,894,851)  40,325,330 

Marine and aviation 5,002,760  (4,039,770)  962,990 

Medical  161,060,630  (44,173,122)  116,887,508 

Life 54,496,783  (34,514,232)  19,982,551 

Engineering, fire, general accidents and 

others 127,782,119  (107,669,927)  20,112,192 

 415,562,473  (217,291,902)  198,270,571 

 

30.2 Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments 

 

Claims on insurance contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Company is liable 

for all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is discovered 

after the end of the contract term. The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree 

of uncertainty than the estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to the Company, 

where information about the claim event is available. IBNR claims may not be apparent to the 

insured until many years after the event that gave rise to the claims. For some insurance contracts, 

the IBNR proportion of the total liability is high and will typically display greater variations 

between initial estimates and final outcomes because of the greater degree of difficulty of 

estimating these liabilities. In estimating the liability for the cost of reported claims not yet paid, 

the Company considers information available from loss adjusters and information on the cost of 

settling claims with similar characteristics in previous periods. The Company involved an 

independent external actuary as well. Large claims are assessed on a case-by-case basis or 

projected separately in order to allow for the possible distortive effect of their development and 

incidence on the rest of the portfolio. 

 

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of 

the expected subrogation value and other recoveries. The Company takes all reasonable steps 

to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposures. However, given 

the uncertainty in establishing some claims provisions, it is possible that the final outcome will 

prove to be different from the original liability established. 

 

The liability for these contracts comprises a provision for IBNR and a provision for reported 

claims not yet paid at the end of the reporting period. 

 

The amount of insurance claims is in some cases sensitive to the level of court awards and to 

the development of legal precedent on matters of contract and tort.  
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30 Insurance risk (continued) 

 

30.2 Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments (continued) 

 

Where possible, the Company adopts multiple techniques to estimate the required level of 

provisions. This provides a greater understanding of the trends inherent in the experience being 

projected. The projections given by the various methodologies also assist in estimating the 

range of possible outcomes. The most appropriate estimation technique is selected taking into 

account the characteristics of the business class and the extent of the development of each 

accident year.  

 

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Company’s 

estimation techniques are a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates and an estimate based 

upon actual claims experience using predetermined formulae where greater weight is given to 

actual claims experience as time passes. The initial loss-ratio estimate is an important 

assumption in the estimation technique and is based on previous years’ experience, adjusted 

for factors such as premium rate changes, anticipated market experience and historical claims 

inflation.  

 

The initial estimate of the loss ratios used for the current year before and after reinsurance are 

analysed below by line of business where the insured operates for current and prior year 

premium earned. 

 

  

For the year ended  

31 December 2022  

For the year ended  

31 December 2021 

 

  

Gross loss  

ratio  

Net loss  

ratio  

Gross loss  

ratio  

Net loss  

ratio 

         

Motor  99%  110%  64%  71% 

Marine and aviation  17%  18%  -7%  -20% 

Medical  90%  89%  82%  81% 

Life  4%  -1%  58%  13% 

Engineering, fire, 

general accidents and 

others  19%  16%  71%  18% 

 

The Company believes that the claim liabilities under insurance contracts outstanding at the 

year-end are adequate. However, these amounts are not certain and actual payments may differ 

from the claims liabilities provided in the financial statements. The insurance claim liabilities 

are sensitive to the various assumptions. It has not been possible to quantify the sensitivity of 

specific variable such as legislative changes or uncertainty in the estimation process.  

 

A hypothetical 1% change in the loss ratio, net of reinsurance, would impact net underwriting 

income / (loss) as follows: 
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30 Insurance risk (continued) 

 

30.2 Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments (continued) 

 

 For the year ended 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED   AED 

    

Impact of change in loss ratio by +/- 1%    

Motor 439,919  321,249 

Marine and aviation 2,613  9,496 

Medical  1,420,496  1,654,178 

Life (4,124)  535,801 

Engineering, fire, general accidents and others 35,645  241,710 

 1,894,549  2,762,434 

 
30.3 Process used to decide on assumptions 

 

The risks associated with insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number of variables 

that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. The Company uses assumptions based on a 

mixture of internal and market data to measure its claims liabilities. Internal data is derived 

mostly from the Company’s quarterly claims reports and screening of the actual insurance 

contracts carried out at the end of the reporting period to derive data for the contracts held. The 

Company has reviewed the individual contracts and the actual exposure years of claims. This 

information is used to develop scenarios related to the latency of claims that are used for the 

projections of the ultimate number of claims.  

 

The Company uses several statistical methods to incorporate the various assumptions made in 

order to estimate the ultimate cost of claims. The two methods more commonly used are the 

chain-ladder and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods. 

 

Chain-ladder methods may be applied to premiums, paid claims or incurred claims (for 

example, paid claims plus case estimates). The basic technique involves the analysis of 

historical claims development factors and the selection of estimated development factors based 

on this historical pattern. The selected development factors are then applied to cumulative 

claims data for each accident year that is not yet fully developed to produce an estimated 

ultimate claims cost for each accident year. Chain-ladder techniques are most appropriate for 

those accident years and classes of business that have reached a relatively stable development 

pattern. Chain-ladder techniques are less suitable in cases in which the insurer does not have a 

developed claims history for a particular class of business. 

 

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson method uses a combination of a benchmark or market- based 

estimate and an estimate based on claims experience. The former is based on a measure of 

exposure such as premiums; the latter is based on the paid or incurred claims to date. The two 

estimates are combined using a formula that gives more weight to the experience-based 

estimate as time passes. This technique has been used in situations in which developed claims 

experience was not available for the projection (recent accident years or new classes of 

business). 
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30 Insurance risk (continued) 

 

30.3 Process used to decide on assumptions (continued) 

 

The choice of selected results for each accident year of each class of business depends on an 

assessment of the technique that has been most appropriate to observed historical 

developments. In certain instances, this has meant that a weighted average of different 

techniques have been selected for individual accident years or groups of accident years within 

the same class of business. The Company has an internal actuary and independent external 

actuaries are also involved in the valuation of technical reserves of the Company and has used 

historical data for the past 9 years. 

 

The Company did not change its assumptions for the valuation of the insurance contract 

liabilities during the year other than those disclosed in note 9. 

 

30.4 Concentration of insurance risk 

 

Substantially all of the Company’s underwriting activities are carried out in the United Arab 

Emirates. In common with other insurance companies, in order to minimise financial exposure 

arising from large insurance claims, the Company, in the normal course of business, enters into 

arrangement with other parties for reinsurance purposes.  

 

To minimise its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, the Company 

evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk 

arising from similar geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of the reinsurers. 

Reinsurance ceded contracts do not relieve the Company from its obligations to policyholders. 

The Company remains liable to its policyholders for the portion reinsured to the extent that any 

reinsurer does not meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance agreements. 

 

31 Capital risk management  
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which the Company considers to be the 

equity as shown in the statement of financial position, are:  

 

• to comply with the insurance capital requirements required by UAE Federal Law No. 6 

of 2007, on Establishment of Insurance Authority and Organization of its Operations, 

as amended; 

• to protect its policyholders’ interests; 

• to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 

to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and 

• to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing insurance contracts 

commensurately with the level of risk.  
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31 Capital risk management (continued) 
 

In the UAE, the CBUAE specifies the minimum amount and type of capital that must be held 

by the Company in addition to its insurance liabilities. The minimum required capital 

(presented in the table below) must be maintained at all times throughout the year. 

 

The table below summarises the minimum required capital of the Company and the total capital 

held. 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Total capital held 121,275,000  121,275,000 

Minimum regulatory capital 100,000,000  100,000,000 

 

The CBUAE (formerly, the IA) has issued resolution no. 42 for 2009 setting the minimum 

subscribed or paid up capital of AED 100 million for establishing insurance companies and 

AED 250 million for reinsurance companies. The resolution also stipulates that at least 75 

percent of the capital of the insurance companies established in the UAE should be owned by 

UAE or GCC national individuals or corporate bodies. The Company is in compliance with 

these rules. 

 

As per Article (8) of Section (2) of the Financial Regulations issued for insurance companies 

in the UAE, the Company shall at all times throughout the year comply with the requirement 

of solvency margins. The solvency regulations identify the required solvency margin to be held 

in addition to insurance liabilities. The Company has incorporated in its policies and procedures 

the necessary tests to ensure continuous and full compliance with these regulations. The table 

below summarizes the Minimum Capital Requirement, Minimum Guarantee Fund and 

Solvency Capital Requirement of the Company and the total capital held to meet these required 

Solvency Margins. 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

 (Unaudited) 

 

 (Unaudited) 

 

Minimum Capital Requirement (MCR) 100,000,000  100,000,000 

Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR) 56,600,411  76,722,329 

Minimum Guarantee Fund (MGF) 71,909,398  64,592,340 

Basic Own Funds 115,146,083  152,963,193 

Ancillary Own Funds    

MCR Solvency Margin - Minimum Capital Requirement 

  Surplus / (Deficit) 15,146,083  52,963,193 

SCR Solvency Margin - Solvency Capital Requirement 

  Surplus / (Deficit) 58,545,671  76,240,864 

MGF Solvency Margin – Minimum Guarantee Fund 

  Surplus / (Deficit) 43,236,685  88,370,853 
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32 Financial instruments  
 

32.1 Significant accounting policies 

 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 

recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 

recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 

are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements. 

 

32.2 Categories of financial instruments  

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Financial assets    

Statutory deposit – at amortised cost 10,000,000   10,000,000  

FVTOCI investments – debt 106,416,035   111,801,771  

FVTOCI investments – equity 1,994,312   733,705  

Bank balances and fixed deposits – at amortised cost 267,312,379  192,385,619 

Insurance and other receivables (excluding advances and 

prepayments) – at amortised cost 109,887,924 

 

168,287,958  

Cash and cash equivalents – at amortised cost 9,628,747  57,392,932 

 505,239,397  540,601,985 

    

Financial liabilities    

Bank borrowings – at amortised cost 50,000,000  33,056,997 

Insurance and other payables (excluding accrued 

expenses) – at amortised cost 128,243,873 

 

117,006,204 

 178,243,873  150,063,201 

 

Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 

recognised at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values due to 

their short-term nature for the current financial assets and liabilities, and for the financial assets 

and liabilities that are of mixed nature the impact of discounting is immaterial. 

 

32.3 Fair value measurements 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 

that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 

fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset 

or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 

asset or liability at the measurement date. 
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32 Financial instruments (continued) 

 

32.3 Fair value measurements (continued) 

 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into 

Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 

observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which 

are described as follows: 

 

• Level 1 - the fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is based on 

quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used 

for financial assets held by the company is the current bid price. These instruments are 

included in Level 1.  

 

• Level 2 - the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market 

is determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable market 

data and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs 

required to fair value an instrument are unobservable, the instrument is included in 

Level 2.  

 

• Level 3 - if one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, 

the instrument is included in Level 3. 

 

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 

 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using the same 

valuation techniques and assumptions as those used for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 

Fair value of the Company’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring basis 

 

Some of the Company’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting 

period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets 

are determined: 

Financial assets 

Fair value as at  

31 December  

Fair value 

hierarchy  

Valuation 

techniques 

and key 

inputs  

Significant 

unobservable 

input  

Relationship 

of 

unobservable 

inputs to fair 

value 

2022  2021  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  AED  AED     

Debt securities 106,416,035  104,491,681  Level 1  

Quoted bid 

prices in an 

active market.  None  

Not 

applicable 

Debt securities -  7,310,090  Level 2  

Quoted bid 

prices from 

third parties.  None  

Not 

applicable 

Quoted equity 1,994,312  733,705  Level 1  

Quoted bid 

prices in an 

active market.  None  

Not 

Applicable 

            

There were no transfers between any of the levels during the year. There are no financial liabilities 

which should be measured at fair value and accordingly no disclosure is made in the above table.  
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33 Financial risk 

 

The Company is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial 

liabilities, reinsurance assets and insurance liabilities. In particular, the key financial risk is that 

in the long-term its investment proceeds are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from 

its insurance contracts. The most important components of this financial risk are market risk 

(which includes: foreign currency risk, equity and debt price risk and interest rate risk), credit 

risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. 

 

33.1 Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market prices. The Company’s market risks may arise from open 

positions in (a) foreign currencies and (b) interest bearing assets and liabilities, to the extent 

they are exposed to general and specific market movements. Management sets limits on the 

exposure to currency and interest rate risk that may be acceptable, which are monitored on a 

regular basis. 

 

Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. There has been no change to the 

Company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.  

 

33.1.1 Foreign currency risk  

 

There are no significant exchange rate risks as all monetary assets and monetary liabilities are 

denominated in Arab Emirates Dirhams, other G.C.C. currencies or US Dollars to which the 

Dirham is fixed. 

 

Management believes that there is a minimal risk of significant losses due to exchange rate 

fluctuations and consequently the Company has not hedged its foreign currency exposure. 

 

33.1.2 Equity and debt price risk  

 

Equity and debt price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a 

result of changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 

individual security, or its issuer, or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. The 

Company is exposed to equity and debt price risk with respect to its quoted equity and debt 

investments. The Company limits equity and debt price risk by maintaining a diversified 

portfolio and by continuous monitoring of developments in the market. In addition, the 

Company actively monitors the key factors that affect stock and market movements, including 

analysis of the operational and financial performance of investees.  

 

At the end of the reporting period, if the equity and debt prices are 10% higher / lower as per 

the assumptions mentioned below and all the other variables were held constant, the 

Company’s other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2022 would have 

increased / (decreased) by AED 10,841,035 (year ended 31 December 2021: AED 11,253,548). 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 
 

33.1 Market risk (continued) 
 

33.1.2 Equity and debt price risk (continued) 
 

Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis: 
 

• The sensitivity analysis has been done based on the exposure to equity and debt price 

risk as at the end of the reporting period. 

• As at the end of the reporting period if equity and debt prices are 10% higher / lower 

on the market value uniformly for all equity and debt while all other variables are held 

constant, the impact on profit and other comprehensive income for the year has been 

shown above. 

• A 10% change in equity and debt prices has been used to give a realistic assessment as 

a plausible event. 
 

33.1.3 Interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the finance 

income or finance cost of the Company. The Company is not significantly exposed to interest 

rate risk on its financial investments in debt instruments and term deposits since they carry 

fixed interest rates. As such, the Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 

independent of changes in market interest rates. 

 

The Company generally manages to minimise the interest rate risk by closely monitoring the 

market interest rates and investing in those financial assets in which such risk is expected to be 

minimal. 

 

If at the end of the reporting period, the interest rates on the bank borrowings had been 100 

basis points higher / lower and all other variables were held constant, the Company’s profit for 

the year ended 31 December 2022 would have decreased / increased by nil (year ended 31 

December 2021: AED 22,956). 

 

33.2 Credit risk  
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in financial loss to the Company.  
 

Key areas where the Company is exposed to credit risk are:  

• reinsurance contract assets; 

• amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid; 

• amounts due from insurance contract holders;  

• amounts due from insurance intermediaries;  

• amounts due from other insurance companies; 

• investments in debt instruments; 

• cash and cash equivalents excluding cash in hand; and 

• fixed deposits 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 

 

33.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

The Company has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of 

mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Company’s exposure and the credit 

ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored, and the aggregate value of transactions 

concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by 

counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by Management annually. A default on a 

financial asset is when the counterparty fails to make contractual payments within 90 days of 

when they fall due.  

 

Reinsurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the 

Company’s liability as primary insurer. If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the 

Company remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. The creditworthiness of reinsurers 

is considered on an annual basis by reviewing their financial strength prior to finalisation of 

any contract.  

 

The Company maintains records of the payment history for significant contract holders with 

whom it conducts regular business. The exposure to individual counterparties is also managed 

by other mechanisms, such as the right of offset where counterparties are both debtors and 

creditors of the Company. Management information reported to the Company includes details 

of provisions for impairment on insurance and other receivables and subsequent write-offs. 

Exposures to individual policyholders and groups of policyholders are mitigated by ongoing 

credit evaluation of their financial condition. Where there exists significant exposure to 

individual policyholders, or homogenous groups of policyholders, a financial analysis 

equivalent to that conducted for reinsurers is carried out by the Company.  

 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of 

impairment losses, represents the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 

 

For insurance and other receivables, the Company applied the IFRS 9 simplified approach to 

measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected impairment provision for 

insurance and other receivables. The Company determines the expected credit losses on these 

items by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience based 

on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions. 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 

 

33.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 
On that basis, the impairment provision as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was determined as 

follows for insurance and other receivables based on the expected loss rates disclosed in Note 

10: 

 As at 31 December 2022 

 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

 

Impairment 

 

Net 

 AED  AED   AED 

      

Not yet due 59,536,441  (446,541)  59,089,900 

0 - 90 days 36,466,094  (1,551,625)  34,914,469 

91 - 180 days 5,641,077  (809,901)  4,831,176 

181 - 270 days 5,315,925  (1,368,201)  3,947,724 

271 – 365 days 5,281,603  (2,214,578)  3,067,025 

Over 365 days 26,210,013  (22,657,645)  3,552,368 

 138,451,153  (29,048,491)  109,402,662 

      

 As at 31 December 2021 

 

Gross 

carrying 

amount 

 

Impairment 

 

Net 

 AED  AED   AED 

      

Not yet due 76,678,261  (575,550)  76,102,711 

0 - 90 days 47,841,493  (2,040,952)  45,800,541 

91 - 180 days 19,535,766  (2,087,978)  17,447,788 

181 - 270 days 7,906,262  (1,799,150)  6,107,112 

271 – 365 days 6,437,286  (2,392,861)  4,044,425 

Over 365 days 31,606,557  (23,678,718)  7,927,839 

 190,005,625  (32,575,209)  157,430,416 

      

The Company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 

group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The Company defines counterparties as 

having similar characteristics if they are related entities. Insurance and other receivables consist 

of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. 

Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of insurance and other 

receivables.  

 

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all premium receivables are situated within the UAE.  

 

The majority of the company's premium receivables are unrated except balances with the Parent 

company amounting to AED 5 million (2021: AED 9 million) (Note 25) which has rating of 

Baa. However, the Company in the ordinary course of business deals with reputable local 

companies and has the ability to net receivables with claims payable and cancel policies if there 

are no payments. 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 

 

33.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk, from reinsurance companies’ receivables 

situated outside the UAE were as follows: 

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Europe 2,918,766  31,310,667 

Asia -  5,275,076 

Other MENA countries 5,467,332  220,181 

Africa -  52,727 

USA 17,973  - 

 8,404,071  36,858,651 

 

The table below presents an analysis of reinsurance receivable balances at the end of the reporting 

period based on Moody’s rating or its equivalent: 

 

 As at 31 December 

  2022  2021 

  AED  AED 

    

Aa3 2,655,826  - 

A1 22,594  14,481,792 

A2 336,397  176,041 

A3  4,665,270  21,880,495 

Baa1 4,332,924  3,536,106 

Baa2 123,521  - 

Baa3 453,618  - 

Ba1 264,049  - 

B1 350,322  - 

  13,204,521  40,074,434 

 

A 10% increase / (decrease) in historical loss experience based on which the credit loss 

allowances for insurance and other receivables were estimated at 31 December 2022 would 

result in an increase / (decrease) in credit loss allowances of AED 816,555 (2021: AED 

1,674,401). 

 

There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to cash and bank balances, as the 

Company holds cash accounts in a large number of financial institutions. Of the bank balances and 

fixed deposits balance at the end of year, AED 133 million (2021: AED 110 million) is placed 

with one bank. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the single largest counterparty is 

a UAE sovereign bank.  
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33 Financial risk (continued) 
 

33.2 Credit risk (continued) 

 

The table below presents an analysis of bank balances and fixed deposits by rating agency 

designation at the end of the reporting period based on Moody’s rating or its equivalent for the 

main banking relationships: 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Aa3 869,508  3,671,685 

A1 189  94,673 

A2 -  2,081,588 

A3 8,235  - 

Baa1 286,063,194  251,313,733 

Not rated -  2,592,305 

 286,941,126  259,753,984 

 

The Company’s financial assets at FVTOCI are held across various countries. The table below 

presents an analysis of financial assets at FVTOCI by rating agency designation at the end of the 

reporting period based on Moody’s rating or its equivalent: 

 

 As at 31 December 

 2022  2021 

 AED  AED 

    

Aa2 13,203,552  10,024,453 

Aa3 5,433,573  -  

A1 12,971,124  9,983,624 

A2 6,431,626  20,758,355 

A3 8,594,724  10,051,289 

Baa1 11,962,576  - 

Baa2 1,961,285  582,330 

Baa3 8,548,433  9,782,540 

Ba1 4,843,013  6,955,405 

Ba2 17,112,292  7,268,939 

Ba3 5,307,952  16,919,855 

B1 7,248,595  7,829,372 

Not rated 4,791,602  12,379,314 

 108,410,347  112,535,476 
 

All the Company’s debt investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

are considered to have low credit risk, and the impairment charge recognised during the year was 

therefore limited to 12 months’ expected losses. A 10% increase / (decrease) in the probability 

of default and loss given default estimates as at 31 December 2022 would result in an increase 

/ (decrease) of AED 61,554 (2021: increase / (decrease) of AED 210,591) in total expected 

credit loss allowances on FVTOCI investments, bank balances and fixed deposits. 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 
 

33.3 Liquidity risk  

 

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 

associated with its financial liabilities at maturity date. Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk 

management rests with the management, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk 

management framework for the management of the Company’s short, medium and long-term 

funding and liquidity management requirements.  

 

The Company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously 

monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets 

and liabilities to ensure that funds are available to meet its commitments for liabilities as they 

fall due. 

 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial assets, financial 

liabilities, insurance contract liabilities and reinsurance contracts assets held. The maturity 

analysis has been presented on a contractual undiscounted cash flow basis except for insurance 

contract liabilities and reinsurance contract assets held which have been presented on their 

expected cash flows.  

 

The contractual maturities of the financial instruments have been determined on the basis of 

the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile 

is monitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained. 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 
 

33.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

 Less than 1 

year 

 1-5  

years 

  5+  

years 

 No  

maturity 

    

   Total 

 AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

31 December 2022          

Financial assets          

FVTOCI investments – debt 1,868,018  37,821,836  66,726,181  -  106,416,035 

FVTOCI investments – equity -  -  -  1,994,312  1,994,312 

Statutory deposit -  -  -  10,000,000  10,000,000 

Insurance and other receivables (excluding advances  

and prepayments) 109,887,924 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

109,887,924 

Bank balances and fixed deposits 153,578,256  113,734,123  -  -  267,312,379 

Cash and cash equivalents 9,628,747  -  -  -  9,628,747 

 274,962,945  151,555,959  66,726,181  11,994,312  505,239,397 

Financial liabilities          

Bank borrowings 50,000,000  -  -  -  50,000,000 

Insurance and other payables (excluding accrued 

expenses) 128,243,873 

 

- 

  

- 

 

- 

 

128,243,873 

 178,243,873  -  -  -  178,243,873 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 

  

33.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

  

Less than 1  

year 

 1-5  

years 

 5+  

years 

 

Total 

  AED  AED  AED  AED 

31 December 2022            

Insurance contract liabilities            

Outstanding claims 102,141,063  28,272,702  34,266  130,448,031 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense reserve 5,105,529  1,413,213  1,713  6,520,455 

Claims incurred but not reported 35,058,584  9,704,235  11,761  44,774,580 

Unexpired risk reserve 5,905,372  7,856,396  -  13,761,768 

Unearned premiums 80,045,155  85,820,015  -  165,865,170 

Mathematical reserve -  11,480,086  -  11,480,086 

  228,255,703  144,546,647  47,740  372,850,090 

         

Reinsurance contract assets        

Outstanding claims (73,934,921)  (22,981,604)  (20,160)  (96,936,685) 

Claims incurred but not reported (20,285,360)  (6,932,975)  (4,373)  (27,222,708) 

Unexpired risk reserve (2,231,228)  (2,392,201)  -  (4,623,429) 

Unearned premiums (30,570,519)  (32,776,031)  -  (63,346,550) 

Mathematical reserve -  (156,201)  -  (156,201) 

 (127,022,028)  (65,239,012)  (24,533)  (192,285,573) 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 

 

33.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

  

Less than 1 

year 

 1-5  

years 

 5+  

years 

 No 

 maturity 

     

  Total 

  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

31 December 2021               

Financial assets          
FVTOCI investments – debt 12,286,062  18,456,946  81,058,763  -  111,801,771 

FVTOCI investments – equity -  -  -  733,705  733,705 

Statutory deposit -  -  -  10,000,000  10,000,000 

Insurance and other receivables (excluding advances  

and prepayments) 168,287,958 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

168,287,958 

Bank balances and fixed deposits 182,314,660  10,070,959  -  -  192,385,619 

Cash and cash equivalents 57,392,932  -  -  -  57,392,932 

  420,281,612  28,527,905  81,058,763  10,733,705  540,601,985 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Financial liabilities          

Bank borrowings 33,056,997  -  -  -  33,056,997 

Insurance and other payables (excluding accrued 

expenses) 117,006,204 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

117,006,204 

  150,063,201  -  -  -  150,063,201 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 

 

33.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 

             

 

Less than 1  

year  

1-5  

years  

5+  

years  Total  

  AED  AED  AED  AED 

31 December 2021        

Insurance contract liabilities            

Outstanding claims 111,052,726  31,249,738  32,389  142,334,853 

Unallocated loss adjustment expense reserve 3,590,496  1,010,349  1,047  4,601,892 

Claims incurred but not reported 36,191,419  10,184,103  10,555  46,386,077 

Unexpired risk reserve 17,699,684  31,026  -  17,730,710 

Unearned premiums 189,116,950  430,909  -  189,547,859 

Mathematical reserve -  14,961,082  -  14,961,082 

  357,651,275  57,867,207  43,991  415,562,473 

            
Reinsurance contract assets           
Outstanding claims (81,174,113)  (25,000,834)  (29,284)  (106,204,231) 

Claims incurred but not reported (23,069,724)  (7,439,791)  (9,192)  (30,518,707) 

Unexpired risk reserve (13,648,618)  (31,099)  -  (13,679,717) 

Unearned premiums (65,029,570)  (148,172)  -  (65,177,742) 

Mathematical reserve -  (1,711,505)  -  (1,711,505) 

 (182,922,025)  (34,331,401)  (38,476)  (217,291,902) 
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33 Financial risk (continued) 

 

33.4 Operational risk 

 

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failures, human error, fraud or external 

events. When controls fail to perform, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, have 

legal or regulatory implications, or lead to financial loss. The Company cannot expect to 

eliminate all operational risks, but through a control framework and by monitoring and 

responding to potential risks, the Company is able to manage the risks. Controls include 

effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation, and reconciliation procedures, staff 

education and assessment processes. 

 

34 Segment information 
 

The Company is organised into two segments: Life and Medical as one segment and Motor and 

General as the other segment. These segments are the basis on which the Company reports its 

primary segment information to the Acting Chief Executive Officer. Gross written premiums 

represent the total income arising from insurance contracts. The Company does not conduct 

any business outside UAE. There are no transactions between the business segments. The 

following is an analysis of the Company’s statement of profit or loss classified by major 

segments: 

  For the year ended 31 December 2022 

  

Life and  

Medical  

Motor and 

General  Total 

  AED  AED  AED 

       

Gross written premiums  279,081,380  153,903,236  432,984,616 

Net insurance premium revenue earned  208,063,757  55,575,983  263,639,740 

Net claims settled  (147,625,991)  (37,683,547)  (185,309,538) 

Net change in outstanding claims, 

unallocated loss adjustment expenses, 

mathematical reserves and claims 

incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) 

provisions  4,748,251  (3,806,349)  941,902 

Net claims incurred  (142,877,740)  (41,489,896)  (184,367,636) 

Commission earned  13,604,530  4,894,953  18,499,483 

Commissions paid  (59,151,488)  (20,586,441)  (79,737,929) 

Net commission incurred  (45,546,958)  (15,691,488)  (61,238,446) 

Gross underwriting income  19,639,059  (1,605,401)  18,033,658 

General and administrative expenses  (30,279,817)  (28,989,317)  (59,269,134) 

Allowance for impairment  (5,471,266)  (1,736,685)  (7,207,951) 

Other underwriting income  3,652,493  -  3,652,493 

Net underwriting loss  (12,459,531)  (32,331,403)  (44,790,934) 

Interest income  1,806,010  7,814,909  9,620,919 

Investment income  -  65,944  65,944 

Other income  -  129,592  129,592 

Loss for the year  (10,653,521)  (24,320,958)  (34,974,479) 
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34 Segment information (continued) 

 
  For the year ended 31 December 2021 

  

Life and  

Medical  

Motor and 

General  Total 

  AED  AED  AED 

       

Gross written premiums  329,012,009  140,136,318  469,148,327 

Net insurance premium revenue 

earned  221,308,471  53,878,125  275,186,596 

Net claims settled  (139,608,042)  (20,933,002)  (160,541,044) 

Net change in outstanding claims, 

unallocated loss adjustment expenses, 

mathematical reserves and claims 

incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) 

provisions  (1,966,659)  (4,282,453)  (6,249,112) 

Net claims incurred  (141,574,701)  (25,215,455)  (166,790,156) 

Commission earned  5,230,670  13,129,932  18,360,602 

Commissions paid  (59,583,242)  (16,753,303)  (76,336,545) 

Net commission incurred  (54,352,572)  (3,623,371)  (57,975,943) 

Gross underwriting income  25,381,198  25,039,299  50,420,497 

General and administrative expenses  (30,381,892)  (24,896,072)  (55,277,964) 

Allowance for impairment  (1,108,063)  (464,854)  (1,572,917) 

Other underwriting income  1,536,293  21,207  1,557,500 

Net underwriting loss  (4,572,464)  (300,420)  (4,872,884) 

Interest income  3,274,344  5,198,851  8,473,195 

Investment income  2,941,806  3,924,331  6,866,137 

Other income  -  5,407  5,407 

Profit for the year  1,643,686  8,828,169  10,471,855 

       

The following is an analysis of the Company’s assets, liabilities and equity classified by 

segment: 

  

Life and  

Medical  

Motor and  

General 

  

Total 

  AED  AED  AED 

 

As at 31 December 2022     

 

 

Total assets  273,790,326  454,650,240  728,440,566 

Total equity  (11,571,206)  156,511,707  144,940,501 

Total liabilities  285,361,532  298,138,533  583,500,065 

 

As at 31 December 2021       

Total assets  330,739,534  466,064,520  796,804,054 

Total equity  3,933,315  198,729,411  202,662,726 

Total liabilities  326,806,219  267,335,109  594,141,328 
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35 Dividend and directors’ remuneration 
 

At the Annual General Meeting held on 14 April 2022, the shareholders approved a dividend 

distribution of 8 fils per share resulting in a total dividend payable of AED 9,702,000 and Board 

of Directors’ remuneration of AED 835,780 for the year ended 31 December 2021. The 

dividend pertaining to the year ended 31 December 2021 was paid on 20 April 2022. (2021: at 

the Annual General Meeting held on 14 April 2021, the shareholders approved a dividend 

distribution of 8 fils per share resulting in a total dividend payable of AED 9,702,000 and Board 

of Directors’ remuneration of AED 1,347,546 for the year ended 31 December 2020. The 

dividend pertaining to the year ended 31 December 2020 was paid on 15 April 2021). 

 

36 Subsequent events 
 

There have been no events subsequent to the statement of financial position date that would 

significantly affect the amounts reported in the financial statements. 

 

37 Approval of the financial statements 
 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on  

20 February 2023. The Board of Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial 

statements. 
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1. Statement of procedures taken to complete the Corporate Governance system during

2022, and method of implementing thereof,

Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company PSC (RAK Insurance or the Company) maintains a robust 

governance structure which is aligned to the “three lines of defense” model. It establishes a framework to 

embed a control culture committed to a high-level of ethical and behavioral standards in order to achieve 

the Company’s objectives. This is supported by the Company’s Corporate Governance Policy and Procedures 

to facilitate effective and prudent management of the Company to deliver enduring success.  

During 2022, RAK Insurance focused its efforts and resources to align the Company’s governance policies, 

procedures and practices to comply with Decision no. (3/Chairman) of 2020 issued by the Chairman of the 

Board of Directors of the Securities and Commodities Authority concerning Approval of Joint Stock 

Companies Governance Guide (the “SCA Corporate Governance Guide Decision 3/RM 2020”), and other 

applicable decisions and resolutions issued by regulatory authorities and international best practices.     

RAK Insurance is committed to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance practices; devoting 

its time and effort to continuously identifying the best business practices and setting clear policies to be 

implemented across the Company. These practices ensure smooth, effective and transparent operations 

that aim to protect shareholder’s rights.   

The primary role of the Board of Directors (the Board) is to protect and enhance long-term stakeholder 

values; including shareholders and clients. The Board is responsible for setting the overall Company strategy 

and has oversight of executive management to ensure robust corporate governance practices are followed 

within the Company. 

Day-to-day operations are delegated to the executive management, led by the Chief Executive Officer. The 

executive management team is accountable for the performance of the Company and measured against a 

set of corporate goals and targets. The posts of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company 

are clearly distinguished between the Chairman’s role to manage the Board, and the Chief Executive Officer’s 

responsibility to manage the executive management and supervise the Company’s business.   

There are four established Board committees (the Audit Committee, the Nomination and Renumeration 

Committee, Investment Committee (Life and General) and Insider Committee). The Board delegates its power 

and authorities from time to time (as permitted by the laws, regulations and Company's Articles of 

Association) to ensure that the operational efficiency and specific issues are being handled with diligence 

and scrutiny. Each committee has its specific duties and authorities defined with each of its Terms of 

Reference duly approved by the Board.   

RAK Insurance, through its robust corporate governance, provides confidence that the Company’s overall 

business performance is properly monitored and ensures that its Directors, management and staff are acting 

to best serve the interests of the Company and its stakeholders. 
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2. Statement of ownership and transactions of the Board of Directors’ members, and their

spouses and children in the Company securities during 2022, according to the following

schedule:

SN Name Position / Kinship 
Shares owned as on 

31-Dec-2022
Total sale Total purchase 

1 Ahmed Essa Al Naeem Vice Chairman 19,252,200 - 20,200 

2 
Mohamed Ahmed Essa 

Ahmed al-Naeem 

Son of the Vice 

Chairman 
1,000 2,013 - 

Attached the shareholders list as of 31 December 2022 issued by the market. 

3. Board Formation

3.1. Statement of the current Board formation 

The individuals comprising RAK Insurance Board of Directors provide a broad range of skills, relevant 

industry knowledge, experience and highly professional backgrounds contributing to the diversity 

appropriate for the Company’s circumstances. 

The Board consists of 5 members including the Chairman, two non-executive / independent Directors and 

three non-executive/non-independent Directors. Four members of the Board are UAE Nationals.  

The Board of Directors welcomed Mr. Raheel Ahmed as a replacement for Mr. Peter England to complete 

the term of his predecessor and this appointment was ratified at the AGM meeting held on 14th April 2022. 

The subsequent pages have been updated to reflect this change in the Board formation. 

As per the Company’s Articles of Association, the Board should hold its meetings at least four times a year 

and may convene for additional meetings when the need arises upon the invitation of the Chairman or the 

Vice-Chairman in their absence. A meeting will only be held if a quorum has been reached. The Board 

members elected are as detailed below. 
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3.2. Composition of the Board of Directors for 2022 

SN Name Category Experience & 

Qualifications 

Period 

served as a 

BOD since  

first 

election 

Membership/po

sitions in any 

other joint 

stock 

companies 

Positions in any other 

important supervisory, 

governmental or business 

entities 

1 Salem Ali Al 

Sharhan 

Non-Independent/ 

Non-Executive 

Bachelor of 

Science in 

Accountancy, UAE 

University 

8 years and 

8 months 

Board Member – 

RAK Bank 

Board Member – DIFC 

Board Member – RAK Medical 

& Health Sciences University 

Board Member –American 

University of Ras Al Khaimah 

Board Member –National 

Cement Company 

2 Ahmed Essa Al 

Naeem 

Non-Independent/ 

Non-Executive 

Bachelor of 

Science in 

Electrical and 

Communication 

Engineering 

16 years Board Member – 

RAK Bank 

Chairman – Emirates Travel 

Agency 

Chairman – RAK Trade Centre 

Chairman – Al Naeem Mall 

and Al Naeem City Centre 

Chairman – Khalifa Mall 

Board Member – Majan 

Printing and Packaging 

3 

Peter William 

England1 

Non-Independent/ 

Non-Executive 

Master of 

Business 

Administration 

6 years and 8 

months 

Chief Executive 

Officer - 

RAKBANK 

None 

Raheel Ahmed  Non-Independent/ 

Non-Executive 

Master of 

Business 

Administration 

1 year Chief Executive 

Officer - 

RAKBANK 

None 

4 Jasem Ahmed 

Al Nuaimi 

Independent/ Non-

Executive 

Bachelors of 

Public 

Administration 

5 years and 9 

months 

None Board Member – Emirates 

Insurance Association 

5 Aarefa Saleh Al 

Falahi 

Independent/ Non-

Executive 

Master of 

Business 

Administration 

4 years 10 

months 

Vice President – 

Mashreq Bank 

Board member at Emirates 

Sport Club. 

Board Member – Ras Al 

Khaimah Chamber of 

Commerce and Industry 

Board Member – Saud Bin 

Saqr Establishment 

for Youth Enterprises 

Development 

Adviser – Higher Colleges of 

Technology – the Information 

Technology and Marketing 

Program 

Attached an acknowledgment issued by each member that the above information contained in clauses 2 and 3 

are valid.  

1 Left the Board in April 2022, and Raheel Ahmed appointed as the Board member after the ratification of the AGM. 
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3.3. Statement of the percentage of female representation in the Board for 2022 

RAK Insurance believes that good corporate decision-making requires the ability to hear and consider 

different points of view which come from people who have different backgrounds, experiences and 

perspectives. The Company's General Assembly held on 7th March 2018 appointed Ms. Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi 

as a Board member, and this decision is in compliance with the SCA Corporate Governance Guide Decision 

3/RM 2020. As a result, female represents 20% of the Company's Board of Directors. 

4. Remunerations and Allowances

4.1. Total Remuneration paid to the Board members for year 2021

Pursuant to Article 29 of the SCA Corporate Governance Guide Decision 3/RM 2020 and Article 39 of 

the Company’s Article of Association, the amount of AED812,568 was approved in the Annual General 

Meeting held on 14th April 2022 and paid as remuneration of the Board of Directors for the financial 

year ending 31st December 2021. 

4.2. Total Remuneration proposed to be paid to the Board members for year 2022, which will be 

presented in the AGM meeting for approval. 

Due to the accumulated losses of the company amounting of AED 35m for the year ended 31 

December 2022 and subject to the Annual General Meeting to be held on 12th April 2023, it is 

recommended not to distribute remuneration to the Board of Directors for the year ended on 31st 

December 2022. 

4.3. Details of the allowances for attending the sessions of the Board Committees received by the 

Board members for year 2022. 

No attendance fee, salaries or additional allowances have been paid to any of the members of the 

Board of Directors for the fiscal year 2022. 

4.4. Details of the additional allowances, salaries or fees received by a Board member other than 

the allowances for attending the committees and their reasons. 

No additional allowances, salaries or fees received by a Board member for the fiscal year 2022. 

5. The Board meetings held during the fiscal year 2022

The Board of Directors of Rak Insurance held seven (7) meetings during 2022. The agenda along with the

Board documents were circulated in advance. The details of the names of the Board members and

attendance of at the Board meetings are given below.

Names of the Board of Directors Members: 

From 1st January 2022 up to 14th April 2022. 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Salem Al Sharhan Chairman Non-Independent 

Ahmed Essa Al Naeem Vice Chairman Non-Independent 

Raheel Ahmed Member Non-Independent 

Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi Member Independent 

Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi Member Independent 
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From 15th April 2022 up to 31st December 2022 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Salem Al Sharhan Chairman Non-Independent 

Ahmed Essa Al Naeem Vice Chairman Non-Independent 

Raheel Ahmed Member Non-Independent 

Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi Member Independent 

Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi Member Independent 

Attendance at the Board meetings: 

SN Name Board meeting dates - 2022 

Total 

number of 

attendanc

es  
10-Feb 24-May 8-Aug 18-Aug 30-Aug 1-Nov 13-Dec

1 Salem Ali Al Sharhan ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 7 

2 Ahmed Essa Al Naeem ✓ ✓
✓ - 

✓ ✓ ✓
6 

3 

Peter England ✓ - - - - - - 1 

Raheel Ahmed - ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 6 

4 Jasem Ahmed AlNuaimi ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 7 

5 Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 7 

✓ : Attended;  -  Not attended; 

No attendance by a proxy for the year 2022 

Attached the Company disclosures on the Market website about the Board meetings. 

5.1. Number of the Board resolutions passed during the fiscal year 2022 

Six (6) Board resolutions were passed during the fiscal year 2022. These resolutions were operational in 

nature and what needed to be disclosed had been done the Abu Dhabi Exchange Market, as they do not 

impact the Company's share price. 

• Board of Directors Resolution by passing No. 1/2022 dated 14th January 2022.

• Board of Directors Resolution by passing No. 02/2022 dated 17th March 2022.

• Board of Directors Resolution by passing No. 03/2022 dated 24th March 2022.

• Board of Directors Resolution by passing No. 04/2022 dated 13th April 2022.

• Board of Directors Resolution by passing No. 05/2022 dated 14th April 2022.

• Board of Directors Resolution by passing No. 06/2022 dated 21st June 2022.
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5.2. Statement of Board duties and powers exercised by the Board members or the 

executives management members during 2022 based on Board authorisation 

Name of the authorized person Power of authorization Duration of the authorization 

Ewen John McRobbie Power of Attorney Unlimited  

(cancelled in September 2022) 

Sanjeev Badyal Power of Attorney Limited for one year 

Name of the authorized person Special Power of 

authorization Duration of the authorization 

Sanjeev Badyal In relation to the Traffic 

Department transactions 

issues 

Limited for one year 

The Executive Management supports the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) in the preparation of strategies, 

budget, policies and procedures, and handling of significant or fundamental operative matters as well as 

ensuring effective internal communications.  

The CEO operates in accordance with the authority delegated to him by the Board of Directors through a 

Power of Attorney. The CEO, with support from the Executive Management team, is responsible for the day-

to-day management of the business, in line with the annual Strategic Plan approved by the Board of 

Directors. 

The major duties and responsibilities delegated to the Executive Management by virtue of a Power of 

Attorney are as follows: 

1. Transact, manage, carry on and do all commercial, financial and insurance matters and powers

requisite and necessary or in any matter connected with or having reference to the business and affairs

of the Company’s operations inside of the United Arab Emirates as per the provisions of the Power of

Attorney and in the limits mentioned in the Delegation of Authority Matrix.

2. Manage the accounts of the Company with any Bank(s) as per the provisions of the Power of Attorney

and in the limits mentioned in the Delegation of Authority Matrix.

3. Represent the Company in all financial agreements approved by the Board of Directors as per the

provisions of the power of attorney and in the limits mentioned in the Delegation of Authority Matrix.

4. Settle, compromise, discharge or compound as per the provisions of the Power of Attorney and in the

limits mentioned in the Delegation of Authority Matrix.

5. Purchase or take on leases for residential, business and other premises and facilities for the business

of the Company compound as per the provisions of the Power of Attorney and in the limits mentioned

in the Delegation of Authority Matrix.

The validity of the delegation of authority is limited to one year. 
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5.3. Statement of the details of transactions made with the related parties (stakeholders) 

in 2022. 

During the year 2022, the Company entered into the following transactions: 

SN The Related Party and the nature 

of relationship  

Type of transaction Total Value  

of all transactions 

1 Board Members and Shareholders Premium written 124,014,631 

2 Board Members and Shareholders Claims paid 56,934,870 

3 Board Members and Shareholders Dividends paid 9,225,629 

4 Parent Company 
Commission paid (including profit 

commission) 
46,365,159 

5 Parent Company Fixed Deposit placements 124,017,267 

6 Parent Company Bank balances 8,634,651 

7 Parent Company Purchase of Investments 19,852,768 

8 Parent Company Rent expenses 475,000 

9 Parent Company Central function recharge 1,000,000 

10 Parent Company Interest income on fixed deposits 1,988,509 

11 Parent Company Interest expense on borrowing 480,359 

Attached a statement of the transactions that the company made during 2022, which equal 5% or more of the 

company’s capital.  
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6. The Complete organizational structure of the company2.

Attached is a sealed copy of the company's complete organizational structure. 

2 Group Internal Audit (GIA) is independent of Management and reports directly to the Audit and Risk Committee, hence the Chief 

Internal Auditor and Internal Audit Team are not represented in the above Organisational Structure. 
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7. Statement of the Senior Executive in the first and second grade according to the

Company’s organisational structure.

SN Position Date of 

Appointment 

Total salaries 

and allowances 

paid in 2022 

(AED) 

Total 

bonuses 

paid for 2022 

Any other 

Bonuses in 

cash/in kind for 

2022 or due to be 

paid in the future 

1 

Chief Executive Officer 01-Oct-18 (1) 1,177,600.00 

These  

bonuses  

will be 

determined 

after review 

and approval 

by the Board 

Not Applicable 

Acting Chief Executive 

Officer 
18-Aug-22(2) 400,645.16 

2 Chief Financial Officer 01-Oct-20 736,600.00 

3 Chief Distribution Officer 01-Oct-13(3) 707,616.16 

4 
Chief Marketing and Client 

Relations Officer 
02-Nov-96 694,216.00 

5 Head of Life 26-Jan-14 443,130.00 

6 
Chief Operating Officer -

Medical 
01 Aug- 21 

742,600.00 

7 
Chief Operating Officer- 

General Insurance 
05-Jan-20

622,400.00 

8 
Chief Risk and Compliance 

Officer 
22-Mar-20

588,900.00 

9 Chief Reinsurance Officer 02-Feb-20 587,600.00 

10 Chief Information Officer 10-Oct-21 482,400.00 

(1) The Chief Executive Officer resigned from his position on 15th November 2022 
(2) The Acting Chief Executive Officer joined on 18th August 2022 
(3) The Chief Distribution Officer resigned from his position on 31st December 2022 
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8. External Auditor

8.1. An overview of the company auditor to shareholders 

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) is one of the world’s largest providers of assurance, tax, and business 

consulting services. As one of the world’s largest professional services firms, PwC offers a wide range of 

services and brings variety of skills and experience to bear on clients' issues. PwC has been established in 

the Middle East region for more than 40 years and has more than 5,600 people in 12 countries across the 

region: Bahrain, Egypt, Iraq, Kuwait, Jordan, Lebanon, Libya, Oman, Palestine, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the 

United Arab Emirates.  

The external auditor is completely independent from the executive management and the Board of Directors. 

No other external auditors were appointed other than the current external auditor during the year ended 

31 December 2022. 

8.2. The fees and costs for the audit or services provided by the external auditor 

Name of the audit office PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) Name of the audit partner Jigesh Shah 

Number of years served as the company’s external auditor. Four years 

Number of years of the Engagement Partner auditing the 

financial statements  

One year 

Total fees for auditing the (Interim and annual) financial 

statements of 2022. 

Annual Audit – 143,000 

Quarterly reviews – 272,250 

Total Audit and Reviews – AED415,250 

Fees and costs of the special services other than the auditing 

of the financial statements in 2022 (in AED), if any, and in case 

there are no other fees, this shall be expressly stated. 

Agreed upon procedures such as AML, E-

forms, Investment Allocation etc along with 

a review of IFRS 17 accounting papers.  

 AED 573,850 

Details and nature of other services provided (if any). If there 

are no other services, this shall be expressly stated. 

No other services provided 

Statement of the other services that an External Auditor 

other than the Company’s accounts auditor provided during 

2022 (if any). In the absence of another external auditor, this 

matter is explicitly stated. 

Name: N/A 

Details: There is no external auditor other 

than the Company’s accounts auditor. 

8.3. The reservations that the company’s external auditor included in the interim and 

annual financial statements for 2022. In case of the absence of any reservations, this matter 

must be mentioned explicitly. 

There were no reservations mentioned by the auditors in their opinion on the financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2022. 
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9. Audit and Risk Committee

The Audit & Risk Committee is composed of three (3) non-executives directors. 

9.1. The Audit and Risk Committee Chairman’s acknowledgment of his responsibility for the 

Committee system at the company

Mr. Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi, the Audit & Risk Committee Chairman acknowledges his responsibility for the 

Committee system in the Company, and for the review of its work mechanism and for ensuring its 

effectiveness. 

9.2.    Names of the Audit and Risk Committee members

From 1st January 2022 up to 14th April 2022. 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi Chairman Independent 

Peter England Member Non-Independent 

Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi Member Independent 

From 15th April 2022 up to 31st December 2022 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi Chairman Independent 

Raheel Ahmed Member Non-Independent 

Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi Member Independent 

Audit & Risk Committee functions and duties assigned thereto 

The responsibilities of the Audit & Risk Committee are in line with Article (58) and Article (60) of SCA Corporate 

Governance Guide Decision 3/RM 2020, and the terms of reference of the Audit & Risk Committee. The Audit 

& Risk Committee undertakes the following duties: 

The Financial Statements and Reporting of the Company 

• Monitor and review the integrity of the Company’s financial and accounting policies and procedures,

including the review of significant financial reporting issues and judgements contained in the financial

statements.

• Monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and reports (annual, semi-annual, and

quarterly) and other formal announcements relating to the financial performance and review thereof as

part of its normal work during the year, and the Committee shall particularly focus on the following:

a) The consistency of, and any changes to, accounting policies and practices, on a year on year basis;

b) Highlighting the aspects that are subject to the management’s discretion;

c) Methods used to account for significant and unusual transactions;

d) Substantial amendments resulting from audit work;

e) Supposing continuity of the Company’s business;
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f) Commitment to the accounting standards approved by the Authority;

g) Commitment to the listing and disclosure rules and any other legal requirements related to

preparation of financial reports; and

h) Clarity and completeness of disclosure in financial reports.

• Coordinate with the Company’s Board of Directors, Senior Executive Management, and the financial

manager or the manager doing such role in the Company, for the purpose of performing its duties;

• Consider important and unusual disclosures that are or shall be mentioned in such reports and accounts,

the committee shall also pay the required attention to any issues brought up by the financial manager,

the manager doing such role, compliance officer, or the auditor;

• Review, and challenge where necessary, the actions, estimates and judgements of management (and

any changes in them), in relation to the interim and annual financial statements before submission to

the Board, paying particular attention to:

▪ disclosures and estimates requiring a major element of judgement;

▪ the extent to which the financial statements are affected by any unusual transactions in the year,

the methods used to account for any significant or unusual transactions where different approaches

are possible, and how such transactions are disclosed;

▪ the clarity and completeness of disclosures, and the context within which financial statements are

made;

▪ compliance with accounting standards;

▪ compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

▪ the going concern assumption;

▪ the representation letter to the auditors; and

▪ all material information presented with the financial statements including the business review, and

corporate governance statements relating to the audit and risk management.

• Wherever practicable, the Committee should review other statements containing financial information

(which require Board approval, in advance of their consideration by the Board, subject always to not

being inconsistent with the obligation to comply with prompt reporting obligations);

• Review any significant adjustments to financial reporting resulting from the audit, and resolve any

disagreements between management and the external auditors regarding financial reporting;

• Review the content of the annual report and accounts and advise the Board on whether, taken as a

whole, it is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders

to assess the company's performance, business model and strategy. The review undertaken by the

Committee should assess whether the narrative is consistent with the accounting information;

• Submit reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning the above-mentioned

responsibilities; and consider any other issues determined by the Board of Directors.

Whistleblowing arrangements 

• Setting the rules that enable the Company’s staff to confidentially report any potential violations in

financial reports, internal control, or any other issues and the procedures sufficient for conducting

independent and fair investigations concerning such violations;

• Review arrangements by which staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in

matters of financial reporting or other matters including consideration of the procedures for:

▪ The reception, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting

controls or audit matters; and

▪ The confidential submission by employees of the Company (which may be anonymous) of concerns

on any matter, including those regarding questionable accounting or audit matters;
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• Submit reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning the above-mentioned

responsibilities; and consider any other issues determined by the Board of Directors.

Internal Controls and the Risk Management Framework 

Internal Controls: 

• Review management’s reports on the effectiveness of systems for internal control and financial reporting

to cover;

- Critical control issues that have an impact on financial reporting;

- Procedures for detecting financial reporting fraud; and

- Consider the major findings of any relevant internal investigations into control weaknesses, fraud or

misconduct and management’s response (in the absence of management where appropriate).

The Risk Management Framework: 

• Review reports of the management and the Chief Risk & Compliance Officer on the effectiveness of

systems for risk management covering:

- Its linkage to the Risk Management Strategy;

- The robustness of the firm’s risk management policies and processes and their fitness for purpose

when tested against the Board’s Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) strategy; and

- The setting and changes in risk appetite.

Code of Ethics and Conduct 

• Monitor the extent to which the Company complies with the Code of Ethics and Conduct which covers:

- Reviews of Related Party Transactions with the Company, managing conflict of interests, and

submitting recommendations concerning such transactions to the Board of Directors before

concluding the contracts; and

- Ensuring implementation of the Code of Ethics and Conduct related to the Committee’s duties and

powers assigned to it by the Board of Directors.

Others 

• Submit reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning the above-mentioned

responsibilities; and

• Consider any other issues determined by the Board of Directors covering service quality and risk

management, regulatory compliance, business resilience, contentious matters and other ad hoc reports

covering such other matters relating to risk management and internal control as the Board may request

from time to time.

Internal Audit/ Internal Control 

• Ensure availability of the resources required for the Internal Audit/ Internal Control function, review and

monitor the effectiveness of such function;

• Review and approve the Internal Audit/ Internal Control annual plan and ensure that the function is

adequately resourced, has appropriate access to information, adequate standing within the Company

and is free from management and other restrictions;

• Review Internal Audit / Internal Control reports on the effectiveness of internal control systems on a

regular basis and follow up the implementation of corrective measures from the comments arising from

such reports;
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• Monitor and review the effectiveness of the Internal Audit/ Internal Control function in the context of the

overall risk management system;

• Consider the appointment, resignation or removal of the Internal Audit/ Internal Control;

• Review and report on the results of the Internal Audit/ Internal Control work on a periodic basis and in

particular consider the major findings of any significant internal control escalated to the Committee and

consider management’s response to Internal Audit/ Internal Control recommendations;

• Review and monitor management’s responsiveness to the audit findings and recommendations of

Internal Audit/ Internal Control;

• Review and approve the Internal Audit Charter;

• Approve the Internal Audit/ Internal Control annual budget;

• Discuss the internal control system with the Board of Directors and ensuring the latter’s establishment

of an effective system for internal control;

• Consider the results of primary investigations in internal control issues as assigned to the Committee by

the Board of Directors or based on an initiative on the part of the Committee and the Board of director’s

approval of such initiative;

• Submit reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning the above-mentioned

responsibilities; and consider any other issues determined by the Board of Directors.

External Audit 

• Submit a recommendation to the Board of Directors in respect of the selection, resignation, or discharge

of the auditor, and in case the Board of Directors rejects the recommendation of the Audit Committee

in this regard, the Board of Directors shall include in the Governance Report a statement clarifying the

Audit Committee recommendations and the reasons for the Board of Directors’ rejection thereof;

• Set and implement the policy of contracting with the auditor, submitting a report to the Board of

Directors, specifying the issues the Committee deems necessary to take procedures in relation to, and

submitting the Committee’s recommendations concerning the steps required to be taken;

• Ensure the auditor’s fulfilment of the terms stipulated in the applicable laws, regulations, and resolutions

and the Company’s Articles of Association, and follow up and monitor auditor's independence;

• Review all matters related to the auditor’s job, work plan, correspondence with the Company, comments,

proposals, concerns, and any substantial inquiries posed by the auditor to the Senior Executive

Management concerning accounting books, financial accounts, or control systems, and following up the

Company’s Board of Directors response thereto and provision of the facilities required for performing

the auditor’s job;

• Ensure timely response of the Board of Directors to inquiries for illustration and substantial matters

mentioned in the auditor’s letter;

• Review of the auditor’s assessment of internal control procedures and ensure coordination between the

internal and external auditors;

• Consider and make recommendations to the Board, to be submitted to shareholders for their approval

at the Annual General Meeting, on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external

auditor.  The Audit Committee shall oversee the process for selecting the external auditor;

• Oversee the relationship with the external auditor, including:

▪ approving the terms of engagement (and the engagement letter) of the external auditor, the

remuneration to be paid and the scope of the audit;

▪ assessing the external auditor’s effectiveness, independence and objectivity, ensuring that key

partners are rotated at appropriate intervals;



Corporate Governance Report 2022 17 

▪ agreeing the policy for, and where required by that policy, approving the provision of non-audit

services by the external auditor and the related remuneration; and

▪ agreeing with the Board a policy on the employment of former employees of auditor, and

monitoring the implementation of this policy.

• Review and approve the annual audit plan, and ensure that it is consistent with the scope of the audit

engagement, and coordinated with the activities of the Internal Audit/Internal Control function;

• Discuss with the external auditor, before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit and

review the auditor’s quality control procedures and steps taken by the auditor to respond to changes in

regulatory and other requirements;

• Review the findings of the audit with the external auditor, considering the external auditor’s

management letter and management’s responsiveness to the auditor's findings and recommendations;

• Review the reports prepared by the external auditor as per Audit Committee request, considering

management’s response to any major external audit recommendations;

• Develop and implement a policy on the supply of non-audit services by the external auditor, to avoid any

threat to the auditor objectivity and independence;

• Review annually and report to the Board on the qualification, expertise and resources, and

independence of the external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process, with a

recommendation on whether to propose to the shareholders that the external auditor should be re-

appointed;

• Ensure that the Committee section of the annual report should include an explanation of how the

Committee has assessed the effectiveness of the external audit process and the approach taken to the

appointment or reappointment of the external auditor, including length of term, when the tender was

last conducted and restructures on appointment;

• Review the audit representation letters before signature, giving particular consideration to any non-

standard issues within the representations;

• Review any other matters referred to it by the Chairman or the Board;

• Submit reports and recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning the above-mentioned

responsibilities; and consider any other issues determined by the Board of Directors.

9.3. Number of the Audit & Risk Committee meetings held during the year 2022. 

During the year 2022, RAK Insurance held four (4) Audit & Risk meetings. The details of attendance are as 

follows: 

SN Name 
Meetings dates – 2022 

Total number of 

attendance 

9-Feb 11-May 29-August 31-Oct

1 Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

2 
Peter William England ✓ - - - 1 

Raheel Ahmed - ✓ ✓ ✓ 3 

3 Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

✓ : Attended;  -  Not attended; 
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10. Nomination & Remuneration Committee (REMCO)

The Nomination & Remuneration Committee is composed of three (3) non-executives directors. 

10.1. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee Chairman’s acknowledgment of his 

responsibility for the Committee system at the company. 

Mr. Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi, the Nomination & Remuneration Committee Chairman’s acknowledges his 

responsibility for the Committee system in the Company, and for the review of its work mechanism and for 

ensuring its effectiveness. 

10.2. Names of the Committee members, 

From 1st January 2022 up to 14th April 2022. 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi Chairman Independent 

Peter England Member Non-Independent 

Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi Member Independent 

From 15th April 2022 up to 31st December 2022 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi Chairman Independent 

Raheel Ahmed Member Non-Independent 

Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi Member Independent 

Nomination & Remuneration Committee functions and duties assigned thereto 

The scope of work of REMCO is to review and to recommend to the Board any decision in relation to its 

duties. The duties of the Committee shall be as follows: 

• Setting and recommending to the Board a policy for nomination for Board and Executive Management

membership with the aim of varying between the two genders respecting formation of both and

encouraging female nominees through offering privileges and training and motivational programs, and

submitting a copy of such policy to the Securities & Commodities Authority and any amendments

thereof;

• Regulating and following up the procedures of nomination for Board membership in accordance with

the applicable laws and the provisions of the Chairman of the Securities & Commodities Authority's

Board of Directors' Decision No. (3 R.M) of 2020 Concerning Approval of Joint Stock Companies

Governance Guide;

• Constantly verifying independence of independent Board members;

• If the committee finds out that one of the members has lost independence, the committee shall bring

the issue before the Board of Directors to serve a registered letter to such member at his/her address

registered at the company, clarifying the reasons for the loss of independency; such member shall reply

to the Board of Directors within fifteen days from the date of receiving notice thereof, and the Board of

Directors shall issue a decision as to whether such member is independent or otherwise in its first
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meeting following reception of the board member’s reply or elapse of the period mentioned in the 

previous paragraph without replying;  

• With due diligence to Article (145) of the Federal Law no. (2) on 2015 concerning on Commercial

Companies, if the Board of Directors’ decision of a member’s loss of independence affects the minimum

percentage of independent Board members, the Board shall appoint an independent member to replace

such member in case the latter submits his/her resignation for losing independence; if such member

refuses to submit his/her resignation, the Board of Directors shall bring the issue before the general

assembly to issue the decision of approval of appointing another Board member or open the door for

nomination to elect a new Board member;

• Setting and recommending to the Board of Directors for approval the policy on which basis bonuses,

privileges, incentives, and salaries shall be granted to the company’s Board members and staff (the

Remuneration Policy), reviewing such policy annually, and ensuring that the bonuses and privileges

offered to the senior executive management are reasonable and in line with the company’s performance;

• Annual review of the skills required for Board membership and preparation of the required capabilities

and qualifications for Board membership including the time a member shall need to allocate to do

his/her duties as a Board member;

• Review of the structure of the Board of Directors and submitting recommendation to the Board

respecting the changes that may be made;

• Determining and recommending to the Board of Directors the company’s need of competencies at the

level of the Senior Executive Management and the staff and the basis for selection thereof;

• Setting and recommending to the Board of Directors the policy of human resources and training in the

company, monitoring implementation of such policy, and review thereof on annual basis;

• Review and recommend to the Board of Directors the Board Secretary’s job description and duties;

• Consider all factors which it deems necessary including relevant legal and regulatory requirements, the

provisions and recommendations of the Code of Ethics and Conduct and associated guidance.  The

objective of such shall be to attract, retain and motivate staff of the quality required to run and work with

the company successfully;

• Delegate to the Chief Executive Officer the recruitment of and setting the individual compensation for all

staff that do not report directly to the Chief Executive Officer and in line with the approved Remuneration

Policy.

• Review and recommend to the Board any staff appointment that reports directly to the Chief Executive

Officer and determine with the Chief Executive Officer the need for qualified staff at the level of Senior

Management and agree the basis of their selection;

• To carry out exit interviews on Senior Management who report directly to the Chief Executive Officer;

• Review and recommend to the Board the annual Training and Development policy;

• Conducting an annual evaluation to the Board members supported by the Board Secretary and

recommended by the Board of Directors.

• Conducting an annual evaluation to the Board members supported by the Board Secretary and

recommended by the Board of Directors, or by appointing an external independent consultants;

• Review and recommend to the Board the Human Resource Plan and Budget;

• To help fulfil its obligations the committee shall have the full authority to appoint remuneration

consultants and to commission or purchase any reports, surveys or information which it deems

necessary;

• Approve and recommend to the Board the staff compensation budget;

• Recommend to the Board for approval the annual compensation for the Chief Executive Officer;
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• Recommend to the Board for approval the annual bonus scheme and payment for the Chief Executive

Officer;

• Establish and recommend to the Board selection criteria, selecting, appointing and setting the Terms of

Reference for any remuneration consultants who advise the committee.

• Determine and recommend to the Board the design of, and determine targets for, any performance-

related pay schemes operated by the company and approve the total annual payments made under such

schemes.

• Review the design of all share incentive plans for approval by the board and shareholders. For any such

plans, determine and recommend to the Board each year whether awards will be made, and if so, the

overall amount of such awards, the individual awards to executive directors, Board Secretary and other

designated Senior Executives and the performance targets to be used.

• Review and approve the policy for authorising claims for expenses from the Directors.

• Work and liaise as necessary with all other Board committees.

• Any other matters determined and considered appropriate by the Board of Directors.

10.3. Number of the Nominations & Remunerations Committee meetings held during 2022 

During 2022, RAK Insurance held three (3) Nominations & Remunerations Committee meetings. The details 

of attendance are as follows: 

No. Name 

Meetings dates – 2022 Total numbers of 

attendance 2-February 9-February 22-November

1 Jasem Ahmed Al Nuaimi ✓ ✓ 2 

2 Peter William England ✓ - 1 

Raheel Ahmed - ✓ ✓ 2 

3 Aarefa Saleh Al Falahi ✓ ✓ 2 

✓ : Attended;  -  Not attended; 

11. The Supervision and Follow-up Committee of insider’s transactions

The Committee of follow-up and supervision of Insiders' Trading is composed of four (4) management 

members. 

11.1. The Chairman of the Supervision and Follow-up Committee of insider’s transactions 

acknowledgment of his responsibility for the Committee system at the company. 

Mr. Sanjeev Badyal, the Supervision and Follow-up Committee of insider’s transactions Chairman’s 

acknowledges his responsibility for the Committee system in the Company, and for the review of its work 

mechanism and for ensuring its effectiveness. 

- 

- 

- 
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11.2. Names of the members of the Supervision and Follow-up Committee of insider’s 

transactions: 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Sanjeev Badyal Chairman Acting Chief Executive Officer 

Shehreyar Azim Member Chief Financial Officer 

Rajesh Thaper Member Chief Risk and Compliance Officer 

Amjad Al Hayek Member Head of Legal 

The Supervision and Follow-up Committee of insider’s transactions functions and duties. 

The duties of the Committee are in accordance with Article (33) of SCA Corporate Governance Guide Decision 

3/RM 2020. The Committee undertakes the following duties: 

• Manage, follow-up and supervise Insiders' Trading and their ownerships.

• Prepare and maintain a special and comprehensive register for all insiders, including persons who

can be considered as insiders on a temporary basis and who are entitled to or have access to inside

information of the Company prior to publication.

• Submit period statements and reports to the Board of Directors and to SCA and Abu Dhabi

Securities Exchange as and when required.

• Submit and recommend to the Board the rules regarding the trading of Board members and

employees of the company in the securities issued by the Company or its mother company,

subsidiary or its sister companies.

• Consider any other issues determined by the Board of Directors.

11.3. Number of Supervision and Follow-up Committee of insider’s meetings held during 

the year 2022 

During the year 2022, The Committee of follow-up and supervision of insiders' trading held one (1) meeting 

due to the changes in the management structure and the composition of the committee.  

The meeting details of attendance is as follows; 

No. Name 

Meetings dates – 2022 Total numbers of 

attendance 26-April 19 - December 

1 Sanjeev Badyal ✓ ✓ 2 

2 Shehreyar Azim ✓ ✓ 2 

3 Rajesh Thaper ✓ ✓ 2 

4 Amjad Al Hayek ✓ ✓ 2 

✓ : Attended;  - Not attended 

11.4. Summary report on the Committee's activities during 2022 

The Committee held two meetings during 2022. And the results of these meetings were as follows: 

• Reviewed the updated Insiders register.

• Reviewed the updated reports on the Insiders transactions.

• Approved the Insider’s Committee Code, Rules and Guidelines

• Review the Shareholders lists.
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12. Investment Committee

12.1 Investment Committee for General Insurance 

A. The Chairman of the Investment Committee for General Insurance acknowledgment of

his responsibility for the Committee system at the company.

Mr. Raheel Ahmed, the Investment Committee’s Chairman acknowledges his responsibility for the

Committee system in the Company, and for the review of its work mechanism and for ensuring its

effectiveness.

B. Names of the members of the Investment Committee for General Insurance.

The Investment Committee for General Insurance is composed of one (1) non- independent director and

three (3) management members.

From 1st March 2022 up to 15th August 2022

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Raheel Ahmed Chairman Board Member 

Ewen McRobbie Member Chief Executive Officer 

Shehreyar Azim Member Chief Financial Officer 

Rajesh Thaper Member Chief Risk & Compliance Officer 

From 18th August 2022 up to 31st December 2022 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Raheel Ahmed Chairman Board Member 

Sanjeev Badyal Member Acting Chief Executive Officer 

Shehreyar Azim Member Chief Financial Officer 

Rajesh Thaper Member Chief Risk & Compliance Officer 

C. Statement of number of the Investment Committee for General Insurance meetings held

in 2022

During 2022, the Investment Committee for General Insurance held four (4) meetings. The details of

attendance are as follows:

✓ Attended;  -  Not attended; 

No. Name Meetings dates - 2022 Total numbers 

of attendance 15-Mar 16-June 26-Sept 20-Dec

(by circulation) 

1 Raheel Ahmed ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

2 Ewen McRobbie ✓ ✓ 2 

Sanjeev Badyal ✓ ✓ 2 

3 Shehreyar Azim ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

4 Rajesh Thaper ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

- - 

- - 
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The Investment Committee functions and duties assigned thereto. 

The Committee undertakes the following duties: 

• Understand the investment objectives, risk/returns profile and investment guidelines of RAK

Insurance;

• Periodically review and recommend to the Board, appropriate amendments to the investment

guidelines;

• Recommend to the Board the appointment, retention or replacement of external investment

manager/s as required;

• Monitor the performance of investment manager/s in accordance with the investment guidelines;

• Review investment/divestment proposals received and make recommendations to the Board;

• Select, monitor, and replace third-party advisors for investments/divestments, such as consultants;

• Resolve all questions of interpretation of the investment guidelines to the investment manager/s;

• Review all fees incurred by or on behalf of the portfolio for reasonableness;

• Review and regularly report the performance of the portfolio to the Board;

• Monitor and review the allocation of assets in the portfolio per the investment guidelines;

• Oversee the appropriateness of investment risk management;

• Maintain records of the administration of the portfolio and the actions of the Investment

Committee.

• Be authorised to approve any investment per the following:

▪ Any single investment except for primary issuance of bonds in a particular asset up to a limit of

AED 30 million per transaction;

▪ Any single investment for a primary issuance of bonds up to a bid limit of AED30 million.

▪ All investment decisions should ensure that the investment portfolio remains in accordance

with the asset allocation limits per the Financial Regulations No. 25 / 2014 for Insurance

Companies;

▪ Be authorised to dispose of any investment that the Investment Committee deems to be

appropriate. The Investment Committee is further authorised to delegate certain

responsibilities to either the Investment Manager or Additional Specialists (such as attorneys,

auditors, others employed of the company).

12.2 Investment Committee for Life and Medical Insurance: 

A. The Chairman of the Investment Committee for Life and Medical Insurance

acknowledgment of his responsibility for the Committee system at the company.

Mr. Raheel Ahmed, the Investment Committee’s Chairman acknowledges his responsibility for the

Committee system in the Company, and for the review of its work mechanism and for ensuring its

effectiveness.

B. Names of the members of the Investment Committee for Life and Medical Insurance.

The Investment Committee for General Insurance is composed of one (1) non- independent director

and three (3) management members.
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Member’s Name Position Designation 

Raheel Ahmed Chairman Board Member 

Ewen McRobbie Member Chief Executive Officer 

Shehreyar Azim Member Chief Financial Officer 

Rajesh Thaper Member Chief Risk & Compliance Officer 

From 18th August 2022 up to 31st December 2022 

Member’s Name Position Designation 

Raheel Ahmed Chairman Board Member 

Sanjeev Badyal Member Acting Chief Executive Officer 

Shehreyar Azim Member Chief Financial Officer 

Rajesh Thaper Member Chief Risk & Compliance Officer 

C. Statement of number of the Investment Committee for Life and Medical Insurance

meetings held by the during the year 2022

During 2022, the Investment Committee for General Insurance held four (4) meetings. The details of

attendance are as follows:

✓ Attended;  -  Not attended; 

The Investment Committee for Life and Medical Insurance's functions and duties assigned 

thereto. 

The Committee undertakes the following duties: 

• Understand the investment objectives, risk/returns profile and investment guidelines of RAK

Insurance;

• Periodically review and recommend to the Board, appropriate amendments to the investment

guidelines;

• Recommend to the Board the appointment, retention or replacement of external investment

manager/s as required;

• Monitor the performance of investment manager/s in accordance with the investment guidelines;

• Review investment/divestment proposals received and make recommendations to the Board;

• Select, monitor, and replace third-party advisors for investments/divestments, such as consultants;

• Resolve all questions of interpretation of the investment guidelines to the investment manager/s;

• Review all fees incurred by or on behalf of the portfolio for reasonableness;

No. Name Meetings dates - 2022 Total numbers 

of attendance 15-Mar 16-June 26-Sept 20-Dec (by circulation)

1 Raheel Ahmed ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

2 Ewen McRobbie ✓ ✓ 2 

Sanjeev Badyal ✓ ✓ 2 

3 Shehreyar Azim ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

4 Rajesh Thaper ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 4 

From 1st March 2022 up to 15th August 2022 
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• Review and regularly report the performance of the portfolio to the Board;

• Monitor and review the allocation of assets in the portfolio per the investment guidelines;

• Oversee the appropriateness of investment risk management;

• Maintain records of the administration of the portfolio and the actions of the Investment

Committee.

• Be authorised to approve any investment per the following:

▪ Any single investment except for primary issuance of bonds in a particular asset up to a limit of

AED 30 million per transaction;

▪ Any single investment for a primary issuance of bonds up to a bid limit of AED 30 million.

▪ All investment decisions should ensure that the investment portfolio remains in accordance

with the asset allocation limits per the Financial Regulations No. 25 / 2014 for Insurance

Companies;

▪ Be authorised to dispose any investment that the Investment Committee deems to be

appropriate.

▪ The Investment Committee is further authorised to delegate certain responsibilities to either

the Investment Manager or Additional Specialists (such as attorneys, auditors, others employed

of the company).
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13. Internal Control System

The Internal Control System of the Company is developed with a disciplined approach and designed to 

ensure integrity, ethical values and competence of its people and respond to changes in regulatory 

requirements as well as the market. It is based on the “three lines of defense” model where the second line 

contains the key control functions, Risk & Compliance, Finance and Legal. The second line provides oversight 

of material risks and is tasked with maintaining a robust control environment, including ensuring compliance 

and the reliability of financial and non-financial information.  

Risk Based Approach: A detailed risk assessment methodology has been established as part of the risk 

management strategy which is set out in the Risk Management Strategy and Framework Document to assess 

the Internal Control environment of the Company and its business activities. Aligned to the organisational 

risk management processes, this methodology enables Risk & Compliance to be strategically and 

operationally aligned with the risks facing the organisation.  

The Control Environment is driven by the “tone from the top” established by the Board and senior 

management which reflects the importance of integrity and ethical values and a commitment to reliable 

reporting. This is implemented through several policies such as the enforcement of the Company’s Code of 

Ethics and Conduct which every employee is expected to adhere to. It reflects the Company’s ethics and 

compliance standards and provides the Company with clarity and consistency that address specific 

requirements and laws.  

There are also several operational policies such as the Credit Control policy and IT policy to strengthen 

governance and controls around these processes. Risk policies for all material risks are also in place. There 

are a number of control activities the Company performs such as segregation of duties and accountability 

and ownership of risks. For example, all significant approvals are required to adhere to the Delegation 

Authority Matrix. In addition, the Company is also working towards the ISO 27001 Standard accreditation to 

increase the robustness of its data and security framework. 

Acknowledgement by the Board of its responsibility for the Company’s Internal Control 

System, review of its work mechanism and ensuring its effectiveness. 

In response to the requirement of Article 8 of the Ministerial Resolution No. 518 of 2009, Internal Control, 

The Compliance and Internal Control/Audit function of the Company was established in 2010. The provisions 

pertaining to Article 68 of the SCA Corporate Governance Guide Decision 3/RM 2020 are also complied with. 

The Board of Directors acknowledges its responsibility for the application, review and efficiency of RAK 

Insurance’s internal control system. The Board Audit & Risk Committee in conjunction with the Chief Risk 

and Compliance Officer and the Chief Internal Auditor ensure the adequacy of the internal control 

framework within the Company. 

Name of the Compliance Officer, his qualifications and date of appointment. 

Mr. Rajesh Thaper, the Chief Risk and Compliance Officer was appointed on 22nd March 2020. 

Rajesh holds a BSc (Eng) Degree in Engineering and Management from King’s College London. He started his 

career with the UK financial regulators (the PRA), and then moved into consultancy with the big four firms 

and then into industry in the UK, Europe, and Middle East with 20 year’s risk and compliance experience.  
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Name of the Chief Internal Auditor, her qualifications and date of appointment. 

Ms. Nicola Thompson, the Group Chief Audit Officer (GCAO) was appointed by the Audit and Risk Committee 

of the Board of Directors on 10th June 2019. Ms. Thompson is a certified internal audit professional with over 

20 years of internal audit, governance and risk management experience across regional and international 

markets. Ms. Thompson leads a team of dedicated, qualified internal audit staff members with significant 

regional and international financial services experience. 

How the Internal Control Department dealt with any major problems at the company, or 

those that were disclosed in the annual reports and accounts. 

The Risk Function: The Internal Control Department/Function is the second line of defense which includes 

Risk & Compliance, Finance and Legal. One of key objectives of the Risk & Compliance Function is to 

implement, embed and maintain robust risk governance and controls. This includes performing regular 

reviews of top risks and reporting to the Audit Committee and the Board. Risks are reported in The Risk 

Dashboard which contain all top risks and mitigating actions with a risk scoring (probability and impact 

scores) to determine the severity of the risks. In addition, any emerging risks are also reported and 

monitored closely. The risk framework is currently being refreshed to strengthen the governance and control 

environment.  

Internal Audit: Internal audits and control effectiveness reviews are conducted throughout the year as per 

the Audit Plan approved by the Audit and Risk Committee. Key audit observations are captured in audit 

reports that are issued periodically. These reports are presented to the Audit and Risk Committee on a 

quarterly basis and summarise audit observations and opportunities for process and control improvement, 

implications from a risk perspective as well as management responses and action plans. 

All audit observations are logged and tracked via the Internal Audit system to completion. Regular follow-up 

is done with Management to ensure that remedial actions are completed and open risks identified by 

Internal Audit are adequately mitigated. Long outstanding audit observations are reported to the Audit and 

Risk Committee. 

Whistleblowing: A whistleblowing policy is designed as a control to help safeguard the integrity of RAK 

Insurance financial reporting, its business dealings and to support adherence with its code of conduct. 

Protocols by which staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of 

financial reporting, business conduct or relevant matters are defined within the policy, including procedures 

for the following: 

• The receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company regarding accounting,

internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and

• The confidential submission by employees of the Company (which may be anonymous) of concerns on

any matter, including those regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.

Investigations and Resolution: All whistleblower cases will be recorded, reviewed and investigated under 

the direction of the GCAO who evaluates the complaint in accordance with the policy and reports findings to 

Audit Committee as appropriate. 
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Number of reports issued by the Internal Control Department to the Company’s Board of 

Directors. 

No reports were issued by the Internal Control Department to the Company’s Board of Directors during 

2022. 

14. Details of the Violations committed during the year 2022.

Rakinsurance has no major violations during the fiscal year 2022. 

15. Statement of the cash and in-kind contributions made by the Company during 2022 in

developing the local community and preserving the environmental.

During 2022, Rakinsurance continued its focus and effort on CSR initiatives and implementing its CSR plan. 

This entailed a number of initiatives such as promoting a “greener” business, promoting our employee’s 

health and well being as well as serving our community better.  These are outlined as follows: 

• Encouraging staff to restrict printing and ensuring green waste disposal. Shred-It was commissioned

to ensure proper paper disposal and recycling which resulted in RAKINSURANCE saving the

equivalent of 15 trees.

• Fifty (50) RAKINSURANCE staff participated in the RAK Terry Fox Run for Cancer Research, a 5km fun

run held in the Corniche, Ras Al Khaimah. AED 3000 was donated to the cause. The event was under

the patronage of HH Sheikh Saud Bin Saqr Al Qasimi, Supreme Council Member and Ruler of Ras Al

Khaimah in cooperation with Saqr Bin Mohammad Al Qasimi Charity and Humanitarian Foundation

and RAK Hospital. The proceeds were donated to the University of Al Ain to support Terry Fox cancer

research projects.

• Rakinsurance staff formed a ‘RAKINSURANCE’ basketball team and joined the Filipino Club Basketball

League 36th Conference.  RAKINSURANCE won 1st runner up during the finals.

• Rakinsurance donated 50 sets of used computer desktops to Beit Al Khair Society based in Ras Al

Khaimah with value of AED 10,000.  Ms. Aarefa Al Falahi, one of our Board Members, attended the

event and led the handover.

• During the Holy month of Ramadan, RAKINSURANCE distributed 700 food packs to several labour

campsites in Ras Al Khaimah which included companies such as RAK Ceramics, Al Ali Constructing

and Best Cleaning Company.
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16. General Information

16.1. Statement of Company’s market share price in the Market during year 2022. 

 Month High Low Close 

31-Jan 3.5 3.5 3.5 

28-Feb 3.5 3.2 3.5 

31-Mar 3.5 3.5 3.5 

30-Apr 3.5 3.1 3.5 

31-May 3.5 3.4 3.5 

30-Jun 3.5 3.5 3.5 

31-Jul 3.5 3.5 3.5 

31-Aug 3.5 3.5 3.5 

30-Sep 3.5 3.5 3.5 

31-Oct 3.5 3.5 3.5 

30-Nov 4.5 3.5 4.5 

31-Dec 4.5 3.5 4.5 

16.2. Statement of the comparative performance of the company’s shares with the general 

market index and the financials index for year 2022. 

Name Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

ADGI 8,704 9,319 9,949 10,081 10,055 9,375 9,663 9,875 9,751 10,412 10,552 10,211 

RAKNIC 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 4.5 4.5 

FTSE ADX 12,445 13,718 14,729 15,010 15,949 14,984 15,517 16,379 16,512 17,762 17,935 17,669 
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16.3. Statement of Shareholders distribution as of 31st December 2022 (Individuals, 

companies, governments) classified as follows: Local, GCC, Arab or Foreign. 

SN Shareholder Classification Number of Shares 

Individuals Companies Governments Total 

1 Local 20.76% 79.24% 0.00% 100.00% 

2 GCC 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

3 Arab 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

4 Foreign 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Total 20.76% 79.24% 0.00% 100.00% 

16.4. Statement of shareholders owning 5% or more of the Company’s capital as at 31 

December 2022. 

SN Name Number of Shares Percentage % of shares 

1 National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah PSC 96,088,366 79.24% 

2 Ahmed Issa Ahmed Al Naeem 19,252,200 15.87% 

16.5. Statement of shareholders distribution by the size of equity as 31 December 2022, as 

per the following. 

SN Share Ownership 
Shareholders 

number 
Owned Shares 

Percentage % of 

Shares 

1 Less than 50,000 31 271,255 0.24% 

2 
From 50,000 to less than 

500,000 
8 1,230,836 1% 

3 
From 500,000 to less than 

5,000,000 
7 4,452,543 3.67% 

4 More than 5,000,000 2 115,320,366 95.09% 

16.6. Statement of measures taken regarding the controls of investor relationships: 

RAK Insurance appointed the Investor Relations Manager who will assist in all of the Investor Relations 

enquiries. 

The name and contact details of the Investor’s Relations Manager: 

Name :  Mrs. Abeer Hilwenji 

Email : investorrelations@rakinsurance.com 

Mobile/WhatsApp No. :  +971 503770708 

The link of the Investor Relations webpage on the website of the Company: 

Website page : https://www.rakinsurance.com/investor-relations/ 

mailto:investorrelations@rakinsurance.com
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16.7. Statement of the special resolutions presented to the Annual General Meeting held 

in 2022 and the procedures taken with respect thereto. 

There was one Special Resolution in the Agenda of the Annual General meeting held in 2022 as below; 

• Approve the Board of Directors’ proposal to amend the Company’s Article of Association to comply with the

provisions of the Federal Law number No. 32/2021 in relation to Commercial Companies, and the decision of

the Securities and Commodities Authority’s Board of Directors No.(3/R.M) for the year 2022, subject to obtain

the necessary approvals from the relevant regulatory authorities.

16.8. Secretary of the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors appointed Mrs. Abeer Hilwenji as the Secretary of the Board of Directors by a 

resolution by circulation dated 13th May 2020 to be effective on 15th June 2020. The appointment was ratified 

at the Board meeting held on 4th June 2020. 

Qualifications and experiences 

Abeer Hilwenji has five years competent and practical experience in Board and Board Committees meetings, 

and highly experienced in paralegal services and providing secretarial and administrative services to the 

Board of directors. Abeer has significant exposure to the Board members, stakeholders, shareholders and 

the management team while performing her role and managing the challenges as a result to ensure 

adherence to internal and external regulatory stakeholders. 

In September 2020, Abeer obtained a recognized certificate in Board Secretarial Practice issued from Informa 

Connect Institution certified by CPD. 

In 2022, Abeer successfully achieved certification as A Certified Board of Director Secretary from the 

Hawkamah Institute for Corporate Governance and DFM. 

Statement of her duties during the year: 

The Duties of the Board Secretary are as follows: 

• Documenting meetings of the Board of Directors and preparing their minutes, which shall include

the discussions and deliberations that took place during these meetings, and place of these meeting

as well as dates of their start and end.

• Recording resolutions of the Board of Directors and voting results and keeping them in a special and

organized record, including the names of attendees and any expressed reservations (if any).

• Keeping all reports submitted to the Board of Directors and reports prepared by the Board.

• Providing members of the Board of Directors with the agenda of the Board's meeting and the related

papers, documents, and information and any additional information related to subjects contained in

clauses of the agenda requested by any member of the Board of Directors.

• Notifying members of the Board of Directors of dates the Board meetings well in advance of the

meeting date.

• Submitting draft of the minutes to members of the Board to express their opinion thereon before

signing it.

• Informing the Company's executive administration about resolutions of the Board of Directors and

its committees and reporting on their implementation and application.

• Coordinating between members of the Board of Directors and executives.
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16.9. Statement of the significant events that took place in the Company in 2022. 

There are no significant events or changes that took place in the company in 2022. 

16.10. A statement of the transactions carried out by the company with the related parties 

during 2022 that are equal to 5% or more of the company's capital. 

Name of the party Type of transaction  Amount 

National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah Fixed Deposit placements 101,695,447 

National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah Fixed Deposit maturities 36,217,519 

National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah Maturity of Investment 7,346,000 

National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah Purchase of Investments 20,036,943 

National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah Settlement of bank borrowing 33,138,164 

National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah Dividends paid 7,687,069 

National Bank of Ras Al Khaimah Premium collection - Medical policy 35,000,000 

16.11. Statement of Emiratisation in the Company at the end of 2020,2021,2022 

Reference to the Notice No.2705/2022, Central Bank of the UAE has allocated the new target below. The 

target points are segregated into operational target points and recruitment target points. 

The Company has fully completed the Emiratisation targeted points for the year 2022. 

Target Points 2022 Achieved Points 

Operational 51 59 

Recruitment 6 6 

The Company's Emiratisation percentage for year 2022 is 12%. As for the previous years, the Company 

achieved Emiratisation percentages of 9% in 2021 and 7% in 2020. 

16.12. Statement of the innovative projects and initiatives implemented by the Company or 

are still under development in 2022. 

Continuing our journey on transformation and process improvements initiatives, Year 2022 also witnessed 

great momentum in digital transformation and innovation. Among various initiatives, continuous 

improvement of our core system to improve efficiency and developing products & portal for our partners 

to empower them with an end-to-end solution to sell retail products were on top of the list. 

✓ DIGITAL PORTAL FOR SALES & DISTRIBUTION: Our digital portal referred as “Vinyl plus” has

empowered our sales partners to perform end to end process of generating a quotation,

making online payment, and issuing an insurance policy within 2-3 minutes of turnaround

time. Each product journey is specifically designed with minimal underwriting questions to

reduce turnaround time and competitive pricing for better conversions of sales enquiries.

Platform is equipped with document upload and KYC functionality in compliance to UAE

central bank regulations. Additionally, we are using AI powered Optical character Recognition
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(OCR) to detect and scan cards (Emirates ID, Mulkiya, etc.,) thus reducing the data entry time 

while on-boarding a customer. Vinyl Plus current offers pre underwritten products for; 

o Motor insurance

o Travel insurance

o Individual life insurance

o Quotation for Medical insurance. Policy issuance is currently in progress and would

be launched in February 2023.

Our digital ecosystem: 

✓ SME PORTAL: SME pre-underwritten products for general and life insurance are under review.

SME Products would include Property insurance, public liability, Engineering, Group life and

workmen Compensation, Marine cargo.



Corporate Governance Report 2022 34 

✓ AUTOMATION OF COI (Certificate of Insurance): Automation of Certificate of insurance for Credit life

(conventional and Islamic) to save time and efforts was successfully implemented. The benefits are

multi fold as it enables the user to generate and send multiple certificates in an approved format

with a single click. Customer satisfaction is also a key achievement in this automation by eliminating

any typo errors causing inconvenience to the customer.

✓ ONLINE COMPLAINTS/FEEDBACK OPTION RINGFENCED TO CUSTOMER SERVICES TEAM: An option

was developed for our customers to submit their complaints of feedback online by visiting our

website to ensure swift response from our customer services team. Online feedback/complaints

workflow is developed with suitable options, enabling our customer services team to resolve any

issues/complaints real-time and in adherence to UAECB regulations.

✓ BUSINESS DASHBOARD: Deployment of MIS software to create business dashboard to monitor

business performance at various level (overall performance, at Business, at each line of business or

product level). Business use this tool evaluate customer profile for last 5 years loss ratio across all

line of business to make an informed decision while offering renewal quotations to customers. Other

real-time dashboard includes Broker dashboards, Renewal pipeline and many others.

✓ Other ongoing initiatives include.

• GO DIGITAL GO GREEN, hashtag #Lets press for paperless, aimed to reduce printing paper and

support digital solution.

• LEAN & GREEN Initiative at Operations Dept. This project had also multi-faceted benefits,

including reduction of carbon emissions, though transportation services.

RAK Insurance continues to re-energies its efforts to bring innovation in its process, systems, and other areas 

to enhance customer services, employee satisfaction and fulfill our responsibility towards society. 
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Section 1:  Overview 

Ras Al Khaimah National Insurance Company P.S.C. (“RAKINSURANCE” or the “Company”) has 

compiled this report to provide an overview of RAKINSURANCE’s major sustainability 

management initiatives and key areas of focus.  

The report covers the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 which includes 

RAKINSURANCE and its branches across the United Arab Emirates. In addition, the report 

has been written with reference to the disclosure guidance set by the Abu Dhabi Securities 

Exchange (ADX) on Environmental Social & Governance (ESG) disclosure for listed companies 

set in July 2019. The report remains largely unchanged from 2021, however, has been 

updated to reflect key corporate sustainability initiatives. 

The key principles are to integrate with ADX strategy and listed companies alike to support 

economic growth, while providing a sustainable trading environment and encouraging the 

business community to adopt societal sustainability practices and raising the standards of 

governance. 
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Section 2:  Overview 

5.1 Introduction 

Being one of the oldest and established insurers in the country, RAKINSURANCE strives to 

continuously provide and develop insurance products and services in the UAE thereby 

creating additional value for our customers. 

We were established in 1976 and have a head count of approximately 200 people. RAKBANK 

is a majority shareholder (79.23%) and our products cover all classes of insurance business. 

The overall portfolio is broadly distributed into 4 main classes of business i.e. Medical (51%), 

General Lines (19%), Life (19%) and Motor (11%). 

5.1 Our Vision 

To offer “Simply Better” insurance solutions for all our customers across the UAE. 

5.1 Our Vision 

We aim to be a leading customer focused insurer in the UAE, offering convenient access to 

innovative and competitive insurance products across multiple channels to individuals and 

businesses. 

5.1 Our Strategy 

We will achieve our ambitions by writing a balanced risk profile that is both resilient and 

deepens customer loyalty along with goal-oriented employee engagement. 

We believe that embracing digital and technological innovation improves both operational 

effectiveness and the customer experience and as such, we have invested heavily in the 

continuous development of our mobile app and online portal, both of which provide easy 
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access to our suite of products and services as well as helping customers manage their 

information and claims online. 

Through our commitment to continuous improvement and development, we believe 

sensible, sustainable growth is achievable. This growth will allow us to reinvest in valuable 

initiatives such as strengthening the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Framework, 

improving staff engagement and development and utilising the talents of our UAE national 

employees as part of our Emritisation strategy objectives.  

We, at RAKINSURANCE, are dedicated in our efforts to continuously improve and meet the 

needs and expectations of all our valued customers across the UAE. 

5.1  Our Values 

• Integrity – We know trust is fundamental and to be trusted we must remain

competent and honest.

• Transparency – We disclose all product terms and conditions with the use of simple

language on our website and at various points of sale.

• Collaboration – We build diverse teams to generate better ideas and act as

responsible partners with all our stakeholders and regulators to serve the wider

interests of society.

• Accountability – We recognise that ultimately, we are accountable to our

shareholders and we focus on maximising long term shareholder and asset value.
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Section 3:  Our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy 

We have a Board approved Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) policy in place to drive our 

awareness, initiatives to drive ethical behavior, focus on the environmental issues and 

impacts, and identify initiatives to support our local communities and improve the quality of 

life of our employees and their families. This demonstrates the Board’s commitment and 

values as a Company to drive the desired behaviors, culture and promote awareness of CSR 

and sustainability issues.  

We will continue to focus on the following to implement the policy: 

• Providing products and services which limit the impact on our planet.

• Operating in a sustainable manner at all times by reducing waste and energy usage.

• Supporting and contributing to the success of the local community and the country

as a whole.

• Improving the working lives of employees by offering training, support and rewards.

• Providing our customers with all the right information before signing any policy.

• Promoting an environment where every employee is a CSR champion.

• Creating a comfortable working environment that supports employees’ growth.

• Creating a diverse working environment that provides equal opportunities and

promotes fairness.

• Enhancing corporate value to shareholders.
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Section 4:  Corporate Governance 

RAKINSURANCE is committed to maintain the highest standards of corporate governance 

practices which is supported by the Company’s Corporate Governance Manual. We continue 

to identify the best business practices and set clear policies to be implemented across the 

organisation. These practices ensure smooth, effective and transparent operations that will 

attract additional investments and guarantee the protection of shareholder rights.   

The primary role of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) is to protect and enhance long-term 

stakeholder values, including shareholders and clients. The Board is responsible for setting 

the overall Company strategy and has oversight of executive management to ensure that 

highest standards of corporate governance practices are followed within the organisation. 

All our activity is guided by principles, frameworks and policies to ensure we behave 

responsibly in everything we do. This is underpinned by our Code of Ethics and Conduct, our 

HR policies and CSR policy to promote and implement the desired corporate culture which 

brings together the ethical principles and rules of conduct governing the actions of all of our 

staff. It establishes the guidelines and required standards to be followed ensuring a 

consistent culture is embedded throughout the Company and drives our general 

sustainability principles and our voluntary commitments with the aim of generating long-

term value for our stakeholders. 
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Section 5:  Human Resources and Employee well-being 

5.1. Human Resources 

The lifeblood of the Company, the staff are the people who make RAKINSURANCE. Our staff 

compromises 60% male and 40% female with 75% under 40 making it a youthful combination 

of talent and experience to bring a fresh and dynamic approach to the Company. We 

achieved our targets to recruit talent from the local population in 2022, a core component of 

our strategy and will continue to pursue this objective in 2023.  

At the Board level, 20% are female and 80% male which demonstrates our commitment to 

diversity and inclusion throughout our Company.  

5.2. Employee well-being 

Safety of our personnel, customers and the public are central to our operations. We have 

had zero incidents over the past 3 years.  

Our focus on employee safety and well-being in the second year of the Coronavirus 

pandemic continues to impact all our key stakeholders and employees. However, we have 

monitored this throughout in line with the Coronavirus Return Plan and implemented the 

necessary actions to keep our employees as safe as possible.   

Our Business Continuity Management (BCM) actions continue to support the IT resilience of 

the Company where all employees are able to work from home with minimal interruption 

and regular communication to mitigate uncertainties. Our IT systems have also been 

improved further, while our cyber security framework is being enhanced with the 

implementation of ISO 27001 standards and the achievement of regulatory compliance with 

the Abu Dhabi Health Information Cyber Standards (ADHICS). 

In addition, as part of our CSR plan, we have continued to sponsor local sporting events in 

the community to promote health and well-being. This included sponsoring a Company 

basketball team in a local championship. 
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Section 6:  Environmental Performance and Sustainability 

6.1. Human Resources 

Over the past few years, the Company has continuously strived to adopt approaches that 

protect the environment and promote greener business. We continued to encourage staff to 

restrict printing if it can be kept on screen; recycle paper and ink cartridges and ensure 

proper disposals of waste especially used electrical items.   

As a recap, we enlisted Shred-It in 2018 (a recycling company) to dispose of our paper and 

recycle it. In return, we receive an environmental accomplishment certificate annually from 

them stating how many trees we have saved.  

In 2022, more than doubled the number of trees we saved to 15 trees (in 2021 this was 7 

trees). This is part of our “go digital go green” initiative reducing paper printing and 

supporting digital solutions. This project has also improved process efficiency and supported 

digital transformation of storing documents & data that is not only easily available but 

anytime, anywhere accessible. Various activities were conducted, and every opportunity was 

explored to enhance customer services and simplify the process via digital means, 

read/send/store as digital documents, re-use the papers, print on both sides was enforced 

across organisation. 

We also continue to strive with additional green initiatives. This includes the review of our 

operations as part of our “Lean and Green” initiative. As a result, a number of 

recommendations have been identified which we are considering implementing. These 

include: 

• Reducing our shuttle service to once a week to transport heavy items and other non

– urgent documents reducing carbon emissions and costs.

• Cheques received to be deposited at the local branch instead of sending these to the

Head Office in RAK.

• Motor claim invoices from providers directly sent to Head Office RAK instead of

branch offices.

• Courier services considered for sending documents across locations. Urgency &

criticality of documents to be approved by the department manager.
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• Data analysis to be performed on a monthly basis to ensure continuous improvement

across departments.

6.2. Community Relations 

We implemented our 2022 CSR Plan where possible, from sponsoring local sports and fitness 

activities to implementing initiatives supporting the local community. Key highlights are as 

follows: 

• The Company donated 50 sets of used computer desktops to Beit Al Khair Society

based in Ras Al Khaimah, an initiative we continued from 2021.  Ms. Aarefa Al Falahi,

one of our Board Members, attended the event and led the handover.

• Fifty (50) RAKINSURANCE staff participated in the RAK Terry Fox Run for Cancer

Research, a 5km fun run held in the Corniche, Ras Al Khaimah. AED 3000 was donated

to the cause. The event was under the patronage of HH Sheikh Saud Bin Saqr Al

Qasimi, Supreme Council Member and Ruler of Ras Al Khaimah in cooperation with

Saqr Bin Mohammad Al Qasimi Charity and Humanitarian Foundation and RAK

Hospital. The proceeds were donated to the University of Al Ain to support Terry Fox

cancer research projects.

• Our staff formed a ‘RAKINSURANCE’ basketball team and joined the Filipino Club

Basketball League 36th Conference.  RAKINSURANCE won 1st runner up during the

finals.

• During the Holy month of Ramadan, RAKINSURANCE distributed 700 food packs to

several labour campsites in Ras Al Khaimah which included companies such as RAK

Ceramics, Al Ali Constructing and Best Cleaning Company.
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Section 7:  Conclusion 

Although the maturity of our sustainability framework is in the infancy stages, we continue 

to strive to strengthen our sustainability and CSR initiatives, formalising our approach to 

highlight the importance of CSR issues. It has given us an opportunity to galvanise our 

approach and further highlight our commitment to sustainability which has been driven by 

our CSR plan.  

We will continue to review and embed processes at the operational level such as our lean 

and green initiatives. However, as the level of awareness and understanding and focus 

matures, it is also about assessing the impacts of how our products from initiation and the 

markets we operate in impact the environment (for example, detecting, assessing and 

mitigating major environmental and social risks inherent in specific business transactions 

such as the underwriting process). 

In addition, we are aware of the “Principles of Sustainable Insurance Standards” which we 

strive to adhere to in the next several years.   
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